
 
 

KEENE CITY COUNCIL 
Council Chambers, Keene City Hall 

May 1, 2025 
7:00 PM 

 

 
 
 
    
  ROLL CALL 
    
  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
    
  MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING 
  • April 17, 2025 Minutes 
    
A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS 
  1. Community Recognition - Ockle Johnson - Boston Marathon 
  2. Proclamation - National Kids to Parks Day  
  3. Proclamation - Bike Week  
  4. Proclamation - Frontline Workers 
    
B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS 
    
C. COMMUNICATIONS 
  1. Pamela Beaman/MCVP - Donation of Real Property - Lot 45 - Damon 

Court 
  2. Jeb Thurmond/Keene Marlboro Group LLC - Withdrawal of Ordinance O-

2025-07: Relating to Amendments to the Zoning Map - 425 Marlboro 
Street 

    
D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES 
  1. Verbal Update: Downtown Infrastructure Project 
    
E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
    

Page 1 of 146



 

 

F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS 
  1. Reallocation of Operating Funds - Recreation Center 
  2. 79E Community Revitalization Tax Relief Application for 34 Court LLC 
    
G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
  1. Relative to Feather Signs in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts 

Ordinance O-2025-08-A - Joint PB/PLD Committee 
  2. Relative to Single-Family Parking Requirements Ordinance O-2025-09 - 

Joint PB/PLD Committee 
    
H. REPORTS - MORE TIME 
  1. Stephen Bragdon and Cheryl Belair - Safety Issues Associated with the 

Driveway at 82 Court Street 
  2. Ian D. Matheson - Court Street Pedestrian Safety Risks 
  3. Adam Toepfer - Request to Add Audio and Data Cables as Part of 

Downtown Infrastructure Project 
  4. Proposal to Add the Necessary Infrastructure to Accommodate Banners 

Across Main Street 
    
I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING 
  1. Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code to Encourage 

Housing Development in Keene 
Ordinance O-2025-15 

  2. Relating to Water & Sewer Utility Charges 
Ordinance O-2025-16 

  3. Relating to Amendments to Definitions of the Land Development Code to 
Encourage Housing Development in Keene and the Definitions Relating to 
Charitable Gaming Facilities 
Ordinance O-2025-17 

    
J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING 
  1. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Stop Signs 

Ordinance O-2025-10-A 
  2. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Yield Signs 

Ordinance O-2025-11-A 
  3. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Traffic Signals 

Ordinance O-2025-12 
  4. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Vehicle Turning 

Limitations 
Ordinance O-2025-13-A 

Page 2 of 146



 

 

  5. Relating to the Installation of a Stop Sign on Wilber Street at Water Street 
Ordinance O-2025-14 

    
K. RESOLUTIONS 
  1. Relating to the 2025-2026 Operating Budget 

Resolution R-2025-12 
    
  NON PUBLIC SESSION 
    
  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

Page 3 of 146



04/17/2025

480

A special meeting of the Keene City Council was held on Thursday, April 17, 2025. The 
Honorable Mayor Jay V. Kahn called the meeting to order at 6:15 PM for purposes of 
conducting a non-public session. Roll called: Kate M. Bosley, Laura E. Tobin, Robert C. 
Williams, Edward J. Haas, Philip M. Jones, Andrew M. Madison, Kris E. Roberts, Jacob R. 
Favolise, Catherine I. Workman, Bettina A. Chadbourne, Mitchell H. Greenwald, and Thomas F. 
Powers were present. Randy L. Filiault and Bryan J. Lake were absent. Michael J. Remy arrived 
at 6:40 PM.

NON-PUBLIC SESSION

At 6:15 PM Councilor Greenwald moved to go into a non-public session under RSA 91-a:3, II 
(c) for consideration of a matter which, if discussed in public, would likely adversely affect the 
reputation of a person other than a member of the City Council. The motion was duly seconded 
by Councilor Bosley.  On roll call vote, 12 Councilors were present and voting in favor.  
Councilors Remy, Filiault, and Lake absent for the vote.  

Mayor Kahn explained to the public that non-public sessions are typically held at the end of 
meetings. In this instance, the Council had a non-public session immediately prior to the start of 
the Council meeting.  A motion by Councilor Greenwald was duly seconded by Councilor 
Bosley to keep the minutes of the non-public meeting non-public as the information could affect 
the reputation of any person other than a member of the public body itself. The motion carried 
unanimously on a roll call vote with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors 
Filiault and Lake were absent.

A true record, attest: 
Deputy City Clerk

Page 4 of 146



04/17/2025

481

A regular meeting of the Keene City Council was held on Thursday, April 17, 2025. The 
Honorable Mayor Jay V. Kahn called the meeting to order at 7:08 PM. Roll called: Kate M. 
Bosley, Laura E. Tobin, Michael J. Remy, Robert C. Williams, Edward J. Haas, Philip M. Jones, 
Andrew M. Madison, Kris E. Roberts, Jacob R. Favolise, Catherine I. Workman, Bettina A. 
Chadbourne, Thomas F. Powers, and Mitchell H. Greenwald were present. Randy L. Filiault and 
Bryan J. Lake were absent. Councilor Greenwald led the Pledge of Allegiance.

MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING

A motion by Councilor Greenwald to adopt the minutes of the April 3, 2025, meeting as 
presented was duly seconded by Councilor Bosley. The motion carried unanimously with 13 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mayor Kahn announced a Master Plan Future Summit on June 3, 2025, at 5:00 PM at the Keene 
Public Library, Heberton Hall. He encouraged the Council and public to attend.

The Mayor also advertised the Council’s 2025 summer break: July 25–August 21. The dates of 
Standing Committee meetings surrounding the break will be announced later.

Lastly, the Mayor talked about Earth Day festivities, starting with Green Up Keene on Saturday, 
April 26, with a drive-thru supply pickup at Keene Public Works (350 Marlboro Street) from 
8:00 AM–12:00 PM. Also on April 26, the Mayor encouraged the public to attend other Earth 
Day events on Railroad Square. Additionally, he announced the Public Works Department’s 
Arbor Day event on April 28, planting two trees at 127 Washington Street with Franklin 
Elementary School students at 1:00 PM.

COMMUNITY RECOGNITION/PROCLAMATION - HANNAH SCHROEDER - NEW 
ENGLAND NEWSPAPER & PRESS ASSOCIATION AWARD RECIPIENT

Mayor Kahn welcomed Hannah Schroeder, Senior Visual Journalist at the Keene Sentinel, to 
honor her receipt of the New England Newspaper & Press Association Award. Also present from 
the Keene Sentinel were Sean Burke, James Rinker, and Sophia Keshmiri. The Mayor said that 
Ms. Schroeder followed a tradition of outstanding photographers at the Keene Sentinel, like 
Steve Hooper and Mike Moore. Mayor Kahn presented Ms. Schroeder with a Proclamation 
honoring her excellence and contributions to the community, officially congratulating her for her 
outstanding achievements and invaluable contributions to visual journalism, enriching the 
community’s understanding and connections within the Monadnock region. Ms. Schroeder 
thanked everyone, including her wonderful coworkers and supporters, citing the incredibly 
talented staff at the Keene Sentinel who challenge and encourage her to better her work. She said 
everyone she met along the way made her think deeper about photojournalism and community.

CONFIRMATION - CONSERVATION COMMISSION

Mayor Kahn nominated Katie Kinsella to serve as a regular member of the Conservation 
Commission with a term to expire December 31, 2027. Mayor Kahn called her an outstanding 

Page 5 of 146



04/17/2025

482

nominee and thanked Councilor Madison for recognizing the talent she would bring to the 
Commission. A motion by Councilor Greenwald to confirm the nomination was duly seconded 
by Councilor Powers. The motion carried unanimously on a roll call vote with 13 Councilors 
present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

COMMUNICATIONS - KEENE SWAMPBATS - REQUEST TO DISCHARGE FIREWORKS 
- JULY 25, 2025; JIM COPPO/JIMMY TEMPESTA - REQUEST TO DISCHARGE 
FIREWORKS - FIRST RESPONDER APPRECIATION COMMUNITY DAY - AUGUST 24, 
2025; & KEENE FAMILY YMCA - REQUEST FOR ROAD CLOSURE - SUMMIT ROAD - 
JUNE 8, 2025

The first communication was received from Kevin Watterson, President of the Keene 
SwampBats, requesting permission to discharge fireworks on Alumni Field on Friday, July 25, 
2025, as part of their Host Family Appreciation Night festivities. A second communication was 
received from Jim Coppo and Jimmy Tempesta, requesting a license to discharge fireworks at 
Alumni Field as part of the First Responder Appreciation Community Day on August 24, 2025. 
A third communication was received from Kelly Fleuette, Senior Program Director of Keene 
Family YMCA, requesting the closure of Summit Road on Sunday, June 8, 2025, from 8:00 
AM–11:00 AM for a Youth Triathlon Race. Mayor Kahn referred all three communications to 
the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee

COMMUNICATIONS - ADAM TOEPFER - REQUEST TO UPDATE AUDIO AND DATA 
CABLES AS PART OF DOWNTOWN INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT; & IAN D. 
MATHESON - COURT STREET PEDESTRIAN SAFETY RISKS

The first communication was received from Adam Toepfer on behalf of Keene Pride and several 
other festivals, requesting the City consider incorporating XLR audio cables and fiber data 
cables, terminating to multiple RJ-45 jacks, into the downtown infrastructure to enhance the 
capacity and quality of festivals and events held in the downtown area. A second communication 
was received from Ian D. Matheson, requesting a review of the crosswalks along Court Street to 
address pedestrian safety concerns with signage or some other means to alert motorists. Mayor 
Kahn referred both communications to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure 
Committee.

COMMUNICATION - JENNIFER NASCIMENTO - RESIGNATION - HUMAN RIGHTS 
COMMITTEE
A communication was received from Jennifer Nascimento, resigning from the Human Rights 
Committee after two years of service. A motion by Councilor Greenwald to accept the 
resignation with thanks was duly seconded by Councilor Bosley. The motion carried 
unanimously with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were 
absent.

PATHWAYS FOR KEENE - REQUEST FOR USE OF CITY PROPERTY - 4 ON THE 4TH 
ROAD RACE - JULY 4, 2025

Page 6 of 146



04/17/2025

483

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report read, unanimously recommending the 
City Council grant permission to Pathways for Keene to sponsor a running race on Friday, July 
4th, 2025, subject to the signing of a revocable license and indemnification agreement and the 
submittal of a certificate of liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 listing the City of 
Keene as an additional insured. In addition, the Police Department shall identify Railroad Street 
immediately adjacent to Railroad Square as a No Parking zone from the hours of 6:00 AM to 
11:00 AM. This license is conditional upon the petitioners providing an adequate number of 
volunteer race marshals to ensure runner safety along the course, and subject to any 
recommendations of City staff. The Petitioner agrees to absorb the cost of any City services over 
and above any amount of City funding allocated in the FY 26 Community Events Budget. The 
payment shall be made within 30 days of the invoice date. Councilor Jones abstained. A motion 
by Councilor Bosley to carry out the intent of the Committee report was duly seconded by 
Councilor Williams.

Councilor Jones pointed out a Conflict of Interest because of his membership on the Pathways 
for Keene Board. Hearing no objections from the Council, Mayor Kahn accepted the recusal.

The motion carried unanimously with 12 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilor Jones 
abstained. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

PLD REPORTS - KEENE PRIDE FESTIVAL - REQUEST FOR USE OF CITY PROPERTY - 
PRIDE FESTIVAL - SEPTEMBER 21, 2025; & OTTO’S FOOD AND DRINK - REQUEST 
FOR PERMISSION TO SERVE ALCOHOL - SIDEWALK CAFÉ

The first Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, recommending 
granting Keene Pride permission to use downtown City rights-of-way on Sunday, September 21, 
2025, for a Pride Festival, subject to the following: submission of a certificate of liability 
insurance in the amount of $1,000,000, naming the City of Keene as an additional insured; 
execution of a standard revocable license and indemnification agreement; agreement by the 
Petitioner to cover any City service costs exceeding the allocated City funding, with payment 
due within 30 days of invoicing; Licensee is permitted to place 12 total portable toilets and one 
dumpster in City parking spaces located at the following locations: The base of Washington 
Street, Railroad Street, Roxbury Plaza from Friday, September 19, 2025 to Monday September 
22, 2025, the portable toilets will be chained together and affixed to ensure they are not 
vandalized while unattended overnight; submission of signed letters of permission from private 
property owners for any use of their property; and, compliance with all required permits, 
licenses, applicable laws, and any recommendations from City staff. The event footprint and 
layout shall include the traveled portions of Central Square, Washington Street from Vernon 
Street to Central Square, Court Street from Winter Street to Central Square, Roxbury Street from 
Roxbury Plaza (easterly side of Hannah Grimes Parking Lot) to Central Square, West Street 
from Federal Street to Central Square, Main Street northbound from Emerald Street/Eagle Court 
to Central Square, Railroad Square, Railroad Street from Roxbury Plaza to Church Street. Road 
closures may also extend to other streets as necessary for detour routes, with final closure and 
detour plans determined in coordination with City staff. The event will take place from 12:00 PM 
to 7:00 PM, with setup and cleanup times to be coordinated with City staff. Free parking is 
granted under the City’s free parking policy for designated spaces on Washington Street and 

Page 7 of 146



04/17/2025

484

Roxbury Plaza for equipment storage from September 22, 2025, as well as for event footprint on 
the day of the festival.

A second Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee report was read, unanimously 
recommending that Otto’s Food and Drink be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in 
connection with their Sidewalk Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of 
the City Council, compliance with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the 
City Code, and compliance with any requirements of the NH Liquor Commission. This license 
shall expire on March 1, 2026.

A motion by Councilor Bosley to carry out the intent of both Committee reports was duly 
seconded by Councilor Jones. The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors present and 
voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

PLD REPORT - POLICY ON THE DISCHARGE OF FIREWORKS

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, recommending the City 
Attorney draft an Ordinance on fireworks that would incorporate the PLD Committee’s 
recommendations. A motion by Councilor Bosley to carry out the intent of the Committee report 
was duly seconded by Councilor Jones.

Councilor Williams was grateful to City staff and to the Committee for bringing this so far. He 
recalled talking about his concerns with fireworks on several occasions and did not want to 
belabor it. He thought this would provide an opportunity to build the City’s policy and decide 
what the protocol would be if there would be four fireworks events scheduled at one place, like 
in 2024. This would place a maximum on any single location, which he called a good idea. He 
said they could still haggle over the details, but Councilor Williams appreciated how far this had 
come and everyone’s work on it.

Councilor Haas added that the Committee was dedicated to finding a fair way to allocate the 
licenses, so everyone would have a reasonable chance to have one.

Mayor Kahn inquired about the timeline for this. Councilor Bosley said it would depend on the 
City Attorney’s availability to develop the language, but it would likely come before the Council 
for first reading and return to the PLD Committee in May or June.

Councilor Remy explained why he would vote against this. In part, there would need to be a fair 
way to allocate the licenses, stating that a “smart” person would apply for all five licenses at the 
beginning of the year and sell them to organizations wanting them. Until that was resolved, he 
did not want to change the Code  to have a limit, and said better direction would be needed for 
that issue. The Mayor thought the Attorney would address that point in her draft.  Councilor 
Bosley clarified that the Committee did not discuss this issue but said there would basically be 
two paths for it: (1) determine a date that all permit requests are required to appear before the 
City Council so the PLD Committee can review and assign them in a fair way, with preference to 
the 4th of July, and (2) allow the landowner to decide which individuals requesting permits hold 
the events on their property within the maximum number.  Councilor Remy said he would still 

Page 8 of 146



04/17/2025

485

ultimately have the same problem because a landowner could auction off spots on their land for 
thousands of dollars. Councilor Bosley acknowledged that possibility. Mayor Kahn said those 
details were not for debate at this meeting. Councilor Jones added the protection that these 
permits still have to come before the City Council for each fireworks display.

On a vote of 12–1, the motion to carry out the intent of the Committee report carried. Councilor 
Remy voted in opposition. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

PLD REPORT - WITHDRAWAL: ORDINANCE O-2024-18 - RELATING TO LICENSES 
AND PERMITS

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, recommending that 
Ordinance O-2024-18, which was introduced by City staff, be withdrawn.

Mayor Kahn expressed his intent to accept the report as informational. City Attorney, Amanda 
Palmeira, deferred to the Council but stated that if a Committee of five Councilors accepts 
something as informational, the procedure would be for the full Council to act on that as well. 
Councilor Bosley disagreed, stating that this process had been in place and the Council had 
discussed the Rule about consensus votes and accepting something as informational at length. 
She said items out of Committee were accepted by the Mayor as informational at Council 
regularly without an objection from a Councilor(s), which was what Councilor Bosley expected 
in this instance too. The City Attorney thought the difference in this situation was that the 
Council’s past actions had been to accept the item as informational by consensus, so there would 
be an official Council action.

The City Clerk, Patty Little, thought the distinction was this being an Ordinance, which the Rules 
of Order stipulate the Council cannot act upon through a Committee report. The Clerk expressed 
her hope to see this Ordinance officially withdrawn by affirmative motion vs. filing as 
informational for a clearer record of the Council’s action.

A motion by Councilor Bosley to withdraw Ordinance O-2024-18 on behalf of the City Clerk’s 
office was duly seconded by Councilor Jones. The motion carried unanimously with 13 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

FOP REPORT - ACCEPTANCE OF 2025 WELLNESS GRANT

A Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee report read, unanimously recommending the 
City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept the 2025 Wellness Grant from 
HealthTrust of up to $2,500 to be used for employee wellness activities. A motion by Councilor 
Powers to carry out the intent of the Committee report was duly seconded by Councilor Remy. 
The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors 
Filiault and Lake were absent.

FOP REPORT - LIFE INSURANCE AND LONG-TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE

A Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee report was read, recommending the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to execute a new multi-year contract renewing 

Page 9 of 146



04/17/2025

486

coverage with Symetra to administer the City’s Life and Long-Term Disability Insurance 
program. A motion by Councilor Powers to carry out the intent of the Committee report was duly 
seconded by Councilor Remy. The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors present and 
voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

FOP REPORT - ACCEPTANCE OF LOCAL SOURCE WATER PROTECTION GRANT

A Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee report was read, recommending the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept, execute, and expend a Local Source 
Water Protection Grant from the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services 
(NHDES) in the amount of $12,800.00. A motion by Councilor Powers to carry out the intent of 
the Committee report was duly seconded by Councilor Remy.

Councilor Madison stated a Conflict of Interest as an employee of New Hampshire Department 
of Environmental Services. Despite having nothing to do with this grant directly, he ran this 
specific grant program a few years prior. So, he requested recusal.

Councilor Roberts felt that because Councilor Madison no longer worked for this grant program, 
he would be well qualified to vote without prejudice. The Mayor thought the Council had faced 
this with others who had close associations though not direct approvals.

Councilor Favolise asked a question about the process when there is an objection to a unanimous 
consent to recuse, which he had not experienced yet; should there be a motion? The Mayor 
advised that there would not be a motion, just a vote to determine whether to accept the recusal.

Councilor Greenwald called for the vote on recusal. On a vote of 11–2, the motion to accept 
Councilor Madison’s recusal carried. Councilors Roberts and Greenwald voted in the minority. 
Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

The motion to carry out the intent of the Committee report carried unanimously with 12 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilor Madison abstained. Councilors Filiault and 
Lake were absent.

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS

City Manager, Elizabeth Ferland, announced that the City was accepting nominations for 
locations to plant new street trees in the City. Please visit www.SeeClickFix.com/Keene to start a 
new request and nominate a location by entering the address where you would like to see a tree 
planted; be sure to select “Request a New Tree” from the category list. Ideal locations include a 
grass belt at least five feet wide, no overhead utility wires, full sun exposure for most of the day, 
and a placement that does not obstruct traffic visibility.

Next, the City Manager recognized Deputy City Manager, Andy Bohannon, and Cheshire 
County HR Director, Kim May, who collaborated with Primex to bring leadership training to the 
region. On April 16, approximately 120 attendees from the City, County, and School District 
participated in a half-day training session held at The Colonial Showroom. The City Manager 
called it a tremendous success. She was grateful for their efforts in securing this valuable—and 

Page 10 of 146

http://www.seeclickfix.com/Keene


04/17/2025

487

free—training opportunity for our teams, who would typically have to travel to Concord for it. 
She hoped to continue it in the future.

On April 16, City Councilors received a joint press release from the City and Cheshire County, 
which the City Manager said addressed and corrected several inaccuracies that appeared in a 
recent Keene Sentinel Editorial that both the City and County felt were important to clarify for 
the record publicly.

The City Manager also updated the Council on a temporary staffing assignment. Ryan Lawliss 
was assigned additional duties conducting health inspections at food service establishments, 
schools, daycare centers, and other public or commercial food handling locations. Mr. Lawliss 
had served as Housing Inspector in the Community Development Department since August 
2019. In addition to those qualifications, he completed food inspection services, including 
supervised inspections during a training phase starting in 2021, and solely performed over 100 
food inspections since. Mr. Lawliss holds a master’s degree in public health from Southern New 
Hampshire University. The City Manager expressed gratitude for his assistance during this 
transition.

Lastly, City Manager Ferland shared the current Red Flag Warning for high fire danger due to 
dry conditions. As a result, all permitted open burning and consumer fireworks discharge in 
Keene was suspend until further notice. Residents should check the Keene Fire Department for 
updates.

FOP REPORT - RULES SUSPENSION – UNH FUNDING - HB2

A motion by Councilor Powers was duly seconded by Councilor Remy to suspend Section 26 of 
the Rules of Order to introduce and act upon the Mayor’s request for authorization to send a 
letter to the State Senate regarding House Bill 2. The motion carried unanimously on a roll call 
vote with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

A motion by Councilor Powers was duly seconded by Councilor Remy to recommend that in 
addition to communications on legislative items of concern, the Keene City Council authorizes 
the Mayor and/or City Manager to write letters conveying the City’s concern about NH House 
passed funding cuts to the University System of New Hampshire.

Both Councilors Favolise and Workman announced Conflicts of Interest due to having 
employment relationships with Keene State College (KSC), a member of the University system, 
and asked to be recused. Hearing no opposition from the Council, Mayor Kahn granted both 
recusals.

Councilor Powers stated what the letter was and his support, deferring to the Mayor for more 
explanation.

Mayor Kahn shared a letter addressed to the NH Senate Finance Committee regarding HB2. The 
Durham Town Manager was asked by his Town Council to draft a letter, which he submitted to 
the House that was much like the one the Mayor gave to this City Council. Durham’s letter 
referred to a 30% reduction to the university system’s budget, not knowing exactly how that 

Page 11 of 146

https://keenenh.gov/fire/


04/17/2025

488

might be applied. The Mayor said that 30% reduction could clearly have a detrimental effect on 
access by NH and out-of-state students to KSC or affect the cost more directly and as such the 
access to KSC. He said that would obviously have a downstream effect on towns like Durham 
and the other towns of the university system. Based on the potential impacts to the State College 
located in this community and therefore the impact on the Monadnock region as a whole and the 
State of NH, Mayor Kahn thought it was important to send this letter to the NH Senate Finance 
Committee. Councilor Roberts did not think the State realized the risk they put colleges like KSC 
in with this action because other states like Massachusetts, for example, had just instituted two-
year free community college. So, if NH increased tuition, especially for out-of-state students––
Councilor Roberts said he would keep his child in their home state.  He said he knew people who 
went to Mount Wachusett Community College’s nursing program instead of River Valley 
Community College’s because they could complete it quicker. So, Councilor Roberts reiterated 
that NH could not afford tuition going up.

Mayor Kahn pointed out that KSC was the lowest-cost residential college in the State of NH, 
calling it one competitive advantage attracting students to the area in addition to the College’s 
programs.

Councilor Tobin added that in recent years, the manufacturing company she worked for had 
recruited interns from KSC. She knew KSC had been developing their internship programs and 
building relationships with the community around it, which had become an important part the 
College’s identity. She thought that would make it more feasible for those students to stay in the 
area, which she said was really needed to share institutional knowledge.

The motion carried unanimously with 11 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors 
Favolise and Workman abstained. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

MORE TIME PLD REPORT - COUNCILOR JONES - REQUEST FOR RESOLUTION 
(DECLARATION) HONORING THE LGBTQIA+ COMMUNITY

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, recommending placing the 
Request for Resolution Honoring the LGBTQIA+ Community on more time. The Mayor granted 
more time.

RESOLUTION - RELATING TO ADOPTING THE PROVISIONS OF RSA 79-E 
"COMMUNITY REVITALIZATION TAX RELIEF INCENTIVE" - RESOLUTION R-2025-09

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report read, unanimously recommending the 
adoption of Resolution R-2025-09. A motion by Councilor Bosley to adopt Resolution R-2025-
09 was duly seconded by Councilor Jones. Councilors were provided with a color rendition of 
the 79-E map.

Councilor Jones called this a tool in the City’s toolbox that the City was not referring to enough, 
especially with the development community. He thought the City needed to start promoting 79-E 
as well as Economic Revitalization Zones (ERZ), which could help with future development. He 
called this a good start.

The City Manager summarized the advantages of 79-E at the Mayor’s request. By identifying a 
79-E district––if applications come forward for potential improvements to a project––79-E 
allows projects meeting the necessary several criteria to request that the additional assessed value 

Page 12 of 146



04/17/2025

489

from their improvements not be taxed for a period of up to five years. The City Manager said 79-
E had been a helpful tool to keep the property value the same after the improvement is in place 
and allow the property owner to recoup some of those expenses by delaying the increased tax for 
a period of time of up to five years. In the end, it is a wonderful tool for the community because 
the property is improved and at the end of the five years, the City collects taxes on the full value.

Councilor Bosley added at this time, 79-E was really relegated to downtown Keene and for urban 
redevelopment. She hoped some changes would allow homeowners to use this tool residentially, 
which she said would be a great asset in trying to rebuild some neighborhoods.

Councilor Haas noted this was just to change the map and make the correction, but the PLD 
Committee looked forward to expanding this as much as possible in the future.

The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors 
Filiault and Lake were absent.

RESOLUTION - RELATING TO THE APPROPRIATION OF FUNDS FROM THE 
GENERAL FUND UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE - FIRE DEPARTMENT STAFFING 
RESOLUTION R-2025-11

A Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee report read, unanimously recommending the 
adoption of Resolution R-2025-11. A motion by Councilor Powers to adopt Resolution R-2025-
11 was duly seconded by Councilor Remy. The motion carried unanimously on a roll call vote 
with 13 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Filiault and Lake were absent.

CITY CLERK’S FINAL MEETING

Mayor Kahn led the Council in honoring the City’s longest-serving City Clerk, Patty Little, at 
this her final City Council meeting after 44 as Clerk of the 46 years with City of Keene. The 
Mayor listed leadership characteristics that the City Clerk possesses. Not just knowledge and 
experience, but the knowledge and care around records retention, Right-to-Know Laws, 
elections, and Council Rules––keeping the Council on track. It would be hard for the Clerk’s 
office to follow in her footsteps, but they were better prepared by her and more capable for it. 
The Mayor spoke about a notion in leadership and management of leading from behind, which 
he said the Clerk had always been able to do; visible, dominant, and always able to convey her 
opinions. She helped everyone do their jobs better because of her willingness and courage to step 
up as a leader. The Mayor cited Ms. Little’s amazing character––not just humor and her ability to 
smile––but honesty and integrity that has been appreciated by all. The City Clerk’s steadfast 
character was important to her work. Outside of traditional leadership, Mayor Kahn spoke about 
his appreciation for the Clerk’s ability for accountability and desire to create a more accountable 
organization, which had guided responsibilities for transparency. Ms. Little held both herself and 
the organization to that accountability for 44 years as the City Clerk. The Mayor was grateful to 
have learned from her.

Clerk’s office staff––Terri Hood (Deputy City Clerk), Kathleen Richards (Deputy City Clerk), 
and Heather Fitz-Simon (Administrative Assistant)––presented the City Clerk with flowers. Ms. 
Hood expressed how much Ms. Little means to the Clerk’s office and how much they all love her 
and would miss her. While they were heartbroken to lose her because she was such a wonderful, 
caring, and supportive leader, they released her to find her joy in her next chapter. They 

Page 13 of 146



04/17/2025

490

promised to do their best to make her proud and thanked Ms. Little for all the wonderful years 
with her as the City Clerk.

The City Clerk expressed how at peace she was knowing what good hands she was leaving the 
Clerk’s office in. She was happy to be retiring. She thanked the Council (and past Councils), the 
Mayor (and past Mayors), and the City Manager (and past City Managers), stating that the 
support for the Clerk’s office had been constant. Ms. Little was ready to retire and do the things 
she never did because serving this Council for 44 years was her priority. Everyone wished her 
well in that.

Councilor Powers also honored the City Clerk, even coordinating his tie with her outfit. He noted 
how she had spoken about retiring for some time but kept showing up. Now, Ms. Little would 
join the “4:00 PM Club,” a monthly get-together of the retired City of Keene department heads. 
He spoke about Ms. Little being the strong, southern daughter of a Marine. Before he was 
introduced to her, former City Manager Pat McQueen told him to keep an eye on Ms. Little, and 
the Councilor said he was right because Ms. Little keeps pushing. For example, she frequently 
won requests for more floor space for the Clerk’s office. He explained that the office needed 
more space––in part––because daily at 6:00 AM the Clerk would bring her two small children 
with her from Marlow to pass time before school. Councilor Powers said Ms. Little had been so 
successful as City Clerk for 44 years because of the way she approached it, with her bottom line 
being to serve the City Council and doing it right.– Over those years, Councilor Powers said Ms. 
Little had become an NH person with a love for antiques, old cars, and more. However, he noted 
that she had to give up her pick-up truck in favor of something that would accommodate the 
grandkids. He joked about where she got her love of cows, which Ms. Little said was her 
husband’s love, not hers. Councilor Powers noted that every day, the City Clerk is up to milk her 
cow at 6:00 AM and will have her list of chores in mind by the time she is finished. So, he gifted 
her with a reading lamp from the City Council for light on those mornings. The Clerk noted that 
her home was full of lamps, which would be a welcome addition. She was grateful.

Mayor Kahn shared a story of Governor Sununu visiting the Clerk’s office after the successful 
election implementation and the City Clerk learning that the Governor had many license plates 
he was giving to distinguished people in the state. Ms. Little expressed her desire and received 
two. The Mayor said the Clerk then politely mentioned that she never had any Senate plates. So, 
the Mayor had searched, and he presented the City Clerk with one of his former Senate plates. 
Ms. Little explained that she and her husband are license plate collectors in an international club 
of license plate collectors, owning about 10,000 plates. It meant a lot to have one from Mayor 
Kahn.

Ms. Little thanked everyone for their support.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, Mayor Kahn adjourned the meeting at 8:25 PM.

A true record, attest: 

Page 14 of 146



04/17/2025

491

City Clerk

 

Page 15 of 146



 

2025-169  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #C.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Pamela Beaman 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Pamela Beaman/MCVP - Donation of Real Property - Lot 45 - Damon Court 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. MCVP Lot 45 donation to City of Keene 042225_redacted 
  
  
Background: 
Pamela Beaman representing MCVP has written to donate MCVP interest in the property located on 
Damon Court, identified as Lot 45 on Tax Map Number 553 045 000 000 000 to the City of Keene via 
a Quitclaim Deed. 
 

Page 16 of 146



Page 17 of 146



 

2025-183  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #C.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Jeb Thurmond 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Jeb Thurmond/Keene Marlboro Group LLC - Withdrawal of Ordinance O-

2025-07: Relating to Amendments to the Zoning Map - 425 Marlboro Street 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Communication_Thurmond 
  
  
Background: 
Jeb Thurmond representing Keene Marlboro Group LLC, has requested the withdrawal of Ordinance 
O-2025-07: Relating to Amendments to the Zoning Map - 425 Marlboro Street. 
 

Page 18 of 146



Page 19 of 146



 

2025-166  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Verbal Update: Downtown Infrastructure Project 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee accepted the 
presentation as informational. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Public Works Director Don Lussier stated that this is the Committee’s monthly update on the 
downtown project. He continued that during the last month, he is sure many people saw the drill rigs 
operating on Main St. The geotechnical borings and test bits were completed. The bottom line is that 
nothing surprising was found, nothing that would change design parameters for the structures. That 
was a good result. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that the other item he wanted to mention was the Project Ombudsman position 
they talked about, which the City has advertised. In the last two weeks, they have interviewed three 
candidates and are currently going through the process of checking references. They expect to 
recommend that the City Manager extend an offer to one of the candidates within the next couple of 
weeks. He hopes that candidate will start in early June, and he hopes to introduce the person to the 
MSFI Committee at their June meeting. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that regarding sidewalk cafes, at last week’s Council meeting there was a 
withdrawal of the Ordinance that the City Clerk’s Office had put forward. Having talked through it, 
they decided that rather than having an Ordinance that said people cannot have (sidewalk) cafes 
during the construction period, they will manage it through additional restrictions and conditions that 
will be part of the sidewalk café licenses during the construction timeframe. They invited all the 
current licensees to a meeting on April 7, and a few were able to attend. At that meeting, he rolled 
out a set of proposed conditions staff thinks they can add to the licenses. If the licensees can live 
with that, so can the City, in terms of managing the construction. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that his first condition is no sidewalk cafes or sidewalk commerce within the 

Page 20 of 146



 

2025-166  

“active construction zone.” Each year, there is a phase. For 2026, it will be Central Square and Main 
St. to approximately the Lamson St./Church St. area. Within that phase, the work will be divided into 
sub-phases. They will work on, say, the east side of Central Square for two weeks, then move to the 
north side of Central Square. The “active construction area” will be the area of the sub-phase, and 
within that active construction area, you will not be able to have your sidewalk café in operation. 
However, outside of that active construction area, you can operate according to your existing license 
footprint. With that, the City would reserve the right to modify the license footprint. As construction 
progresses and conditions change, there is (for example), a new landscaped island here so we have 
to scootch this corner or cut off this area of your sidewalk café. Those modifications will be adjusted 
on the fly as the construction progresses. The City will agree to notify the licensees at least seven 
days prior to the contractor moving from one area to another. Thus, the licensees will have at least a 
week to know when they will need to move their furniture out of the way. Licensees will need to 
remove their furnishings by 6:00 AM on the day construction starts in that area. All of the normal 
operating conditions that are already part of the license will remain, and they are adding one more, 
which is essentially that in the event of unforeseen circumstances, some sort of emergency, the City 
reserves the right to shut down a sidewalk use immediately because it is unsafe or the water main 
under the patio just blew, or something like that. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that they shared those suggested conditions with a few of the license holders 
who came, and there were not a lot of objections. Generally, people agreed with the conditions. The 
next step is for the staff to draft the actual license language. They will send a draft list of license 
conditions to all the current license holders so they can see what staff expects it to look like for next 
year. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that during that meeting with license holders, one item came up. Someone 
raised concerns about one of the design features they have discussed. The sidewalk commerce zone 
will be up against the building face throughout the project. The goal was to create, ideally, at least a 
10-foot sidewalk commerce zone for all the businesses downtown. They are not able to get that 
100% of the time in all locations, but it is close, and certainly much more consistent than they are 
able to accommodate today. Some concerns were raised about that feature. To summarize, the 
concerns are loss of space compared to existing conditions; the risk of someone seated against a 
plate glass being able to break it, which is a safety concern; and a loss of privacy, with diners on the 
inside of the storefront and diners on the outside being in close proximity. To help flesh out this 
concern, he asked Stantec to provide example layouts of different areas of the sidewalk cafes. He 
stressed that what he was showing the Committee are just examples. He added that Stantec and 
City staff are not restaurant designers; there are many ways to arrange these patios. He just asked 
Stantec for some reasonable layouts that might work within the designated commerce zone. 
  
Mr. Lussier displayed an example layout for the west side of Central Square. He indicated Fritz’s 
location. Fritz has three picnic tables in front of their own storefront and in front of the Chamber of 
Commerce. He believes the Chamber allows them that space, which is not to say the Chamber will 
always be there or always grant that permission, but for now they assume that understanding 
continues. There is an area with four-person tables in front of the Chamber’s ramp, and two six-
person tables in front of Fritz’s. The fenced area delineates the area where alcoholic beverages are 
served and for the Pour House. Of course, they need to keep openings for access to the different 
occupancies to that building, but they accommodate a two-person table, a bench or bar top that they 
calculated would be up to eight seats, a six-person table, a couple of four-person tables, and another 
bar top that would accommodate about 15 people. Comparing this to existing conditions, he does not 
know if Fritz’s tables are six-person or eight-person picnic tables. He is not sure what their licensed 

Page 21 of 146



 

2025-166  

number of diners is, but it is between 18 and 24 with their three tables. The proposed conditions can 
accommodate 20. Again, this is one potential layout, not the only one. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that the Pour House’s existing license includes 32 seated diners and 18 
patrons at the bar tops. The proposed condition is for 20 table diners and 23 patrons at the bar top. 
They looked at the north side of Central Square. The Life is Sweet patio, with their existing license, 
has 15 (people at) tables and two small benches. In the proposed condition Stantec laid out within 
the 10-foot sidewalk commerce zone, they can accommodate 16 seated positions plus the two 
benches. The Stage’s license has 32 seated table positions, and the proposed is also 32. The Stage 
is using small four-person tables. The ones Stantec’s layout uses are 48”x30”, which he thinks are 
larger than the current tables. If the Stage uses their current tables, there might be more room than 
shown, but this is just an example. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that the point is there will be changes for some business owners, in terms of 
what their sidewalk commerce zone can accommodate, but generally, it is close to the existing 
conditions, or better, in some cases. Outside these areas they laid out, there will be many storefronts 
that have very limited seating now or have no capacity to have outdoor seating that will be 
accommodated for that outdoor commerce or outdoor dining in the future. So, on balance he thinks it 
is still a net benefit. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that his only question regarding Mr. Lussier’s update is whether there are 
any more decisions the Committee needs to make. Mr. Lussier replied not at this time. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he knows it is probably still in development as they on-board the 
Project Ombudsman, but there was some conversation at the last verbal update that he continued 
with staff after the meeting, regarding what the Ombudsman’s role will look like over the summer. He 
continued that one reason he was comfortable with voting to delay the project by a year was to give 
time for the Ombudsman to really start building those relationships. He does not necessarily need an 
answer at this meeting, but he would like a sense of what that relationship-building will look like pre-
construction. 
  
Councilor Favolise continued that his other question is whether the “active construction area” Mr. 
Lussier verbally mentioned is the same as what the slides call the “active zone.” If so, he would 
stress the importance of being as consistent as possible. This will be a confusing enough time for 
downtown business owners. It would help to be as consistent as possible with communications. He 
appreciates the monthly updates. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he would like to mention something that was not in Mr. Lussier’s 
presentation, which is that outdoor dining or outdoor sales is a privilege. It is a license, not a right. 
That is something to keep in perspective. It is great that staff is reaching out and providing concept 
plans for potential seating, but like Mr. Lussier said, it will change, and that is fine. The merchants will 
figure out what is most advantageous for them, and we will all get through this. 
  
Chair Greenwald asked if there were further  questions or comments from the Committee. Hearing 
none, he asked for public comment. 
  
Dorrie Masten stated that she owns the stretch of real estate that includes the Pour House, Fritz’s, 
and Cholly & Waldo’s. She continued that there was a big meeting here in March. Mr. Goodell 
presented ways to change the cityscape for cafes. At that time, they were going to wait until the 

Page 22 of 146



 

2025-166  

downtown project was done and then decide where things were going. A recent, surprise visit from 
Mr. Lussier showed her where her patio would go, as it is right now. She was very upset. She looked 
back at her communications with the City Manager, who had been in the meeting with the merchants. 
She had said, and ended her email with, “We remain committed to reviewing concerns in good faith. 
Public Works will assess what the layout will look like at your location once construction is complete.” 
At the meeting, Mr. Lussier also told them that if they had more concerns, they could come to this 
(Committee) meeting. The plan that was on the website shows nine tables in front of the Stage and 
eight in front of the Pour House. That is impossible. When she asked Mr. Lussier, he said they were 
simply dropped in there for a visual; it was not to scale. She has a big problem with that, considering 
all the tax dollars they have paid. Tonight, Mr. Lussier showed new visuals. Even looking at those 
new visuals from tonight, she can point out that those tables cannot go there. Common sense tells 
you tables cannot go in front of doors. 
  
Ms. Masten continued that she understands that outdoor dining is a privilege. But as Councilor 
Filiault said, they should try their best to say yes, instead of saying no right away. The only thing 
stopping her, George Benik of the Stage, and the Tavern from having their patios just the way they 
are is the bike lane. Central Square is busy, and they are thankful to have successful restaurants and 
businesses, but “it does not work.” The visual Mr. Lussier showed for The Stage showed tables side 
by side. If the tables are side by side, it gives a single server three feet to walk in. That is not 
handicapped accessible. She is sure George would make any changes necessary to accommodate a 
customer, as would she, but two servers passing each other with their trays would be very difficult. 
Also, sitting right next to the glass with another customer inside Fritz’s window would be an awkward 
dining experience for anyone. As the Committee knows, every table and chair is income for them. It 
is not for her and George to drive fancy cars. Their money trickles down to their employees, provides 
jobs, and brings people downtown. Eliminating their patios and tables does not benefit anyone. They 
are not asking for a lot. It is two streets. If someone cannot walk two blocks, they probably do not 
belong on a bicycle. And it is two streets where there is a dangerous crosswalk. On the plan, the bike 
path that comes off Central Square crosses a busy street, as they just heard from prior testimony 
about Court St. traffic going fast. You could be coming down Court St., crossing the sidewalk at the 
same time as the bicycles are going, where they could stop right there and walk in whichever 
direction they are going to go in, by one block. Again, it is doable. If you just say no, you are not 
benefiting anyone. If it is doable and it will benefit the community, why not? Why not make the effort? 
If anything, it saves money, because they do not have the bike path. 
  
George Benik of the Stage restaurant stated that he had some concerns about the layout of the map 
that was given to him, but he sees that there is a new design that he was not aware of. He continued 
that he would like a map of the actual distances that they will be working with. For example, he wants 
to know whether he has 10 feet, or 10.5 feet, and where his allocated sidewalk café will be 
designated to. The Stage has 30-inch tables; they are not big. Mostly, they put those tables together 
and move them around. There is concern with the entryways and how many tables they can get 
between. They have two big 8-foot entryways, so they are losing all that space that they utilize now, 
that they pay for with their license. He wants a better evaluation from staff or a designer, with the 
Stage’s tables, the ones they are going to use in that area the City has allocated for them. Then 
maybe they could work something out. Maybe they could take a little bit more sidewalk space, which 
would be for Stantec or the engineers and designers to accomplish. He does well with the Stage’s 
outdoor café. It was the first restaurant to have an outdoor table. The City Clerk’s Office gave them a 
license and they put small tables out when they just had the one store. They have been doing this a 
long time, and they know things change, but he just wants a little more clarity and actual dimensions 
so he knows where the Stage’s outdoor café will be placed and how much space it will be. 

Page 23 of 146



 

2025-166  

  
Chair Greenwald asked the Public Works Director if they have the base drawings to a point that Mr. 
Benik can reference. 
  
Mr. Lussier stated that he was going to suggest that staff can offer Mr. Benik the same assistance 
they provided to the Pour House, which is to go to the site and mark out in white spray paint where 
that designated area for the patio would be. He continued that he wants to point out that what they 
are calling the “sidewalk commerce zone” is not a different material or treatment, it is just part of the 
sidewalk. They are saying that when a business owner wants to have that outdoor commerce, that 
this is the area that is designated for it. In Mr. Benik’s case with the Stage restaurant, it is the width of 
his property, 10 feet out from the building. Staff can go mark that out. In terms of laying it out with his 
specific tables, he would shy away from that. They are not restaurant designers, and different 
restaurant owners might use tables of different shapes or sizes. Public Works is trying to provide the 
Committee with a sense of what the impacts would be, but neither he nor Stantec is in any way 
qualified to determine the optimum layout for any particular restaurant. He could provide them with 
some scaled drawings, and they could cut out shapes, put them on, and play with how they want to 
lay out their space. 
  
Ms. Masten stated that when they go out and mark Mr. Benik’s patio, it might be helpful to have 
someone from the Fire Department along, because the drawings for the Pour House have tables in 
front of the exit doors. She continued that she wants to make sure everyone understands the amount 
of table space being taken away from them by doing this. It is significant. She would like someone 
from the Fire Department to accompany them to clarify where they are allowed to put tables and 
chairs.  
  
Chair Greenwald replied that as he understands it, Public Works will provide a blank map, on which 
Ms. Masten and Mr. Benik can design their own spaces. He continued that then they will have to run 
it through Code Enforcement and the Fire Department to make sure it is safe. The City will not design 
the space. Ms. Masten replied that they just want everyone on the same page, regarding not having 
tables or chairs in front of the doors. 
  
The City Manager stated that sometime in March or around the timeframe of when the discussion 
about outdoor dining happened, a letter was submitted and referred to the Planning, Licenses, and 
Development (PLD) Committee. She continued that it was about the licensing, not the layout. It was 
more about the rules for outdoor cafes. The City Clerk’s Office said they would deal with it later, after 
the construction was done. She will pull those meeting minutes to see. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that she can appreciate how challenging a lot of this will be. She continued 
that she thinks the reason they decided to postpone the project for a year was so that there would be 
time to work out a lot of these details and to be able to have this back and forth. They are working on 
getting the Ombudsman. Until that happens, she appreciates the work staff has put in to meet these 
needs. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that having owned a downtown business, he can appreciate what business 
owners go through, dealing with City Council, which is sometimes not fun. He can appreciate both 
sides. He hopes that when this comes back next month, they will have more answers. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that she wants to remind the public of the reason why they are even 
changing and reconfiguring the sidewalk café placements. She continued that it was not just for bike 

Page 24 of 146



 

2025-166  

lanes. She has been a Council member since 2020. Every summer, she receives complaints from pet 
owners, people with children, and others about not feeling welcomed downtown because it is 
designed for and prioritizes restaurants and bars, and they have a hard time just walking down the 
sidewalk. This is about trying to balance the wants and needs of an entire city. They also really 
debated about cutting across the sidewalk, and the safety of not only pedestrians, but also waitstaff. 
They have considered many different variables, and as Chair Greenwald said, they are doing their 
best, but again, sidewalk cafes are privileges, not a right. 
  
Councilor Favolise made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee accepted the 
presentation as informational. 
 

Page 25 of 146



CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #F.1. 

Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 

To: Mayor and Keene City Council 

From: Andrew Bohannon, Deputy City Manager 

Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager 

Subject: Reallocation of Operating Funds - Recreation Center 

Recommendation: 
Move that the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Council 
reallocate $20,000 from the Facilities – DPW (65316672) operating budget to the Brian A. Mattson 
Recreation Center Renovation Project (65J0004A). 

Attachments: 
None  

Background: 
The Brian A. Mattson Recreation Center Renovation project received a $801,250 CDFA – 
Community Center Investment Program grant in 2023, and the City’s capital reserve provided 
$285,000 (original project total $1,086,250) for improvements to that included a Level 2 Energy Audit, 
upgrades to the HVAC systems, new boilers, new windows, a lobby renovation, and a new ADA 
ramp to the veterans' memorial. 

However, as with many renovations, unknown costs begin to change the project budget with various 
change orders. This additional funding will allow the project to be completed with the recent change 
order requests, which are within the City Manager's authorization. Through past Council 
authorizations of reallocation of funding and donations, the current project budget is $1,353,486.00, a 
difference of $267,236.00. 

The CDFA grant award is to be completed by August 30, 2025, and the project is currently on 
schedule to be completed by the end of June, and within the program guidelines. 

2025-164 

Page 26 of 146



 

2025-182  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #F.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Daniel Langille, City Assessor 
    
Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager 
     
Subject: 79E Community Revitalization Tax Relief Application for 34 Court LLC 
     
  
Recommendation: 
That the Mayor set a public hearing regarding a 79-E Community Revitalization Tax Relief application 
submitted by Zach Luse for the property at 34 Court Street and owned by 34 Court LLC 
  
Attachments: 
1. 79E Committee checklist - 34 Court 
2. 34 Court LLC 79-E Documents 
3. CC Resolution 
  
  
Background: 
The City's 79-E Committee has completed its review of the application submitted by Zach Luse, on 
behalf of 34 Court LLC, for temporary tax relief through the City's 79-E Community Revitalization Tax 
Relief program. The Committee has determined that the application is complete, and a public hearing 
should be scheduled in accordance with RSA 79-E:4,II. The proposed project will redevelop the 
second floor of a historic building into an indoor beer garden. The full application is attached to this 
memorandum. 
 

Page 27 of 146



CITY OF KEENE RSA 79-E COMMITTEE REPORT 

Property Owner: 34 Court Street LLC 

Property Location: 34 Court Street 

Applicant: Zach Luse 

Date application submitted: 4/24/2025  Date of Committee Review: 4/28/2025 

• Is property located within the 79-E district?         ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

• Is property located within a TIF District?                ☐YES    ☒NO    
 

• Does the project require additional infrastructure by the City?    ☐YES    ☒NO     
 

• Is the property listed or eligible to be listed on the national or state register  
of historic places and a copy of historic designation submitted?     ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

• If yes, does the project devote at least $5,000 to energy efficiency?  ☒YES    ☐NO    ☐N/A  
 

• Does project replace or redevelop an existing structure?         ☐REPLACE    ☒REDEVELOP    
 

• If a replacement, has HDC approval been obtained?    ☐YES    ☐NO    ☒ N/A 
 

• Are project cost estimates provided?          ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

• Does the estimated project cost exceed the 75,000 minimum?      ☒YES    ☐NO     
Summary of work:   
       2nd Floor renovations, Energy efficiency upgrades, interior alterations, kitchen, bar, bathrooms 
 

• What is the proposed use of the building?  
First floor to remain office Use, 2nd floor will be indoor beer garden w/small kitchen 

• Does the project include one or more required public benefit(s)?  ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

• Does the project comply with the Master Plan?     ☒YES    ☐NO         
 

• Does the proposed use meet current zoning regulations?    ☒YES    ☐NO     
Notes:   
 

• Is the application complete with necessary documentation?                         ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

• Has the owner agreed to the execution and recording of a covenant?   ☒YES    ☐NO     
 

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC BENEFITS (as proposed by the applicant): 
See application for full details 

 

         

        

         

  

Page 28 of 146



Page 29 of 146



Page 30 of 146



Page 31 of 146



Page 32 of 146



Page 33 of 146



Page 34 of 146



Page 35 of 146



Page 36 of 146



Page 37 of 146



Page 38 of 146



Page 39 of 146



Page 40 of 146



Page 41 of 146



Page 42 of 146



Page 43 of 146



Page 44 of 146



Page 45 of 146



Page 46 of 146



Page 47 of 146



Page 48 of 146



Page 49 of 146



Page 50 of 146



Page 51 of 146



Page 52 of 146



Page 53 of 146



Page 54 of 146



Page 55 of 146



Page 56 of 146



Page 57 of 146



Page 58 of 146



Page 59 of 146



Page 60 of 146



Page 61 of 146



Page 62 of 146



Page 63 of 146



Page 64 of 146



Page 65 of 146



Page 66 of 146



Page 67 of 146



Page 68 of 146



Page 69 of 146



Page 70 of 146



Page 71 of 146



Page 72 of 146



Page 73 of 146



 

2025-177  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #G.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
    
Through: Paul Andrus, Community Development Director 
     
Subject: Relative to Feather Signs in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts 

Ordinance O-2025-08-A - Joint PB/PLD Committee 
     
  
Recommendation: 
A motion was made by Chair Bosley to amend the ordinance to include a setback from an 
intersection to a minimum of 25 feet and create an A version of the ordinance. The motion was 
seconded by Councilor Jones and was unanimously approved.  
 
A motion was made by Councilor Jones that the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee 
request the Mayor to set a public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-08-A. The motion was seconded by 
Councilor Madison and was unanimously approved. 
  
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board finds Ordinance O-2025-08-A 
consistent with the 2010 Master Plan. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was 
unanimously approved. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-08A_Feather Signs 
2. O-2025-08A_Feather Signs_Redline 
3. Staff Report O-2025-08 
  
  
Background: 
Included below is an excerpt from the draft minutes of the April 14, 2025 public workshop where this 
item was discussed. 
 
"b. Ordinance – O-2025-08 – Relating to amendments to the Sign Code. Petitioner, City of Keene 
Community Development Department, proposes to amend Table 10-2 of the Land Development 
Code to create an exception under the category of Animated Signs to allow temporary Feather Signs 
in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts. 
  
Chair Bosley stated this issue has come forward based on a letter from the Mayor who recognized a 
gap in the sign code. The PLD Committee reviewed this item and requested Staff draft language, 

Page 74 of 146



 

2025-177  

which would permit commercial businesses in the industrial zones to use feather signs on a 
temporary basis. 
  
Ms. Brunner stated this ordinance is proposing to amend the sign code to allow for a type of 
animated sign called a feather sign, which is also referred to as a blade sail sign. Because it catches 
the wind and moves with it, it is considered animated, which is like a flag. Hence, this is the reason it 
falls under this ordinance. This ordinance would be specifically for properties in the Industrial and 
Industrial Park districts as a temporary sign. The reason is to help strike that balance between 
orderly, safe, aesthetically pleasing development and allowing businesses to do what they need to do 
to be successful. 
  
Ms. Brunner next reviewed the background on the sign code. 
The City of Keene Sign Code is in Article 10, which is part of the zoning regulations. The purpose of 
the sign code is to establish a legal framework for a comprehensive and balanced system of signs to 
achieve the following objectives: 

1. To allow the free flow of traffic and protect the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists and motorists, 
which may be impacted by cluttered, distracting, or illegible signage. 

2. Avoid excessive levels of visual clutter or distraction that are potentially harmful to property 
values, business opportunities and community appearance. 

3. To promote the use of signs that are aesthetically pleasing of appropriate scale and integrated 
with the surrounding buildings and landscape. 

  
Ms. Brunner stated the way the code is organized is that there are signs that are permitted, but an 
applicant still would need to obtain a sign permit. There are also signs that are exempt, and these are 
ones you can install without having to get a signed permit. There are also signs that are prohibited, 
such as internally illuminated, flashing, animated signs, roof signs that stick out of a roof, etc. 
  
Ms. Brunner stated the two districts this change is being proposed for are the Industrial District and 
the Industrial Park District, both of which are mostly located in south Keene, with one exception. The 
district is intended to provide space for industrial activities, such as manufacturing, warehousing and 
distribution, that are not typically suited for commercial areas by virtue of operational characteristics 
and space needs. The industrial park district is located in two areas in Keene, including the Optical 
Avenue area in southeast Keene and along Maple Avenue near Route 12. This district is intended to 
provide relatively low-intensity manufacturing, research, and development firms that are intensive, 
clean in nature, and promote an attractive industrial park environment. These tend to have very large 
parcels of land with large buildings and large manicured lawns. 
  
Ms. Brunner next explained feather signs. She addressed page 27 of the staff report, which includes 
an image of this type of sign. She said that feather signs have a pole on one side that is attached to 
the ground with a long piece of flexible material attached to it that is designed to move with the wind 
and attract your attention. They can be designed to be pedestrian scale at a minimum of seven feet 
tall and can go up to about 25 feet tall. The tall ones are usually designed for areas with automobile 
traffic. 
  
Currently, under the code, these signs are prohibited. This ordinance would change that, specifically, 
for the industrial and industrial park districts. It would be a temporary sign up to 30 days, four times a 
year. There is no minimum to the number, but they need to be installed ten feet apart and 15 feet off 
the property line. One of the issues with feather signs is if they are not installed properly, they could 

Page 75 of 146



 

2025-177  

blow over. 
  
Ms. Brunner went on to say there is a definition being proposed, which states the following: 
Feather Sign (also known as Blade Sail Sign) - A sign made of flexible material that is generally, but 
not always, rectangular in shape and attached to a pole on one side so the sign can move with the 
wind.  
  
Ms.   Brunner stated, when she was working on this draft language, she had a conversation with one 
of the code enforcement officers, and they did raise some issues with enforcement.  This type of sign 
is currently prohibited citywide; hence, it is easy to enforce if there is a complaint. However, this 
ordinance could cause some issues when there is a complaint received, requiring a determination of 
where the sign is located and if it is permitted in that district. The biggest issue enforcement raised is 
with the perception of fairness, and how it will look if feather signs are allowed to be located in one 
district versus being located in another district. The other issue is make sure these are installed 
correctly. 
  
Regarding consistency with the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan, Ms.  Brunner stated the master 
plan is broad with respect to sign code and this is a very specific change. She indicated the City of 
Keene has a long history of local manufacturing, which is an important component of the economy. 
The master plan does include a strategy to “encourage and recruit industries that are in line with 
building up local manufacturing and industrial economy…..  high quality jobs that pay a living wage 
are viewed as imperative to Keene's long term economic sustainability. Expansion of tax base and 
lessening the tax burden on homeowners. The plan goes on to talk about the need to retain and 
recruit a workforce. Ms. Brunner stated that allowing for feather signs for the purpose of advertising 
job openings can help support this. This concluded staff comments. 
Chair Farrington stated he is in favor of this ordinance and clarified the 15-foot setback and 10 feet 
apart is at the road interface. Ms. Brunner stated along the road, they have to be 15 feet back from 
the property line with 10 feet of space between each other. Chair Farrington stated whether there is 
consideration of limiting these signs within the property, such as at a car dealership.  Ms. Brunner 
stated what she was envisioning was along the road, but perhaps they could be installed on the 
property. They would still need to be 10 feet apart and they could only be up for those 30 days and 
four times a year. 
  
Ms. Brunner went on to say the reason Staff were supportive of this request is that the Industrial 
districts are fairly unique in that they are very different from other parts of the city. They have larger 
lot sizes and not a lot of interaction with the street. These are uses that tend to be set back more 
from the street, bigger buildings, bigger massing, with large parking lots.  
  
Chair Bosley asked whether any car dealerships fall in the dark purple section (where feather sign 
use is proposed). Ms. Brunner stated she was not entirely sure, but most car dealerships are located 
in Commerce Limited. 
  
Councilor Haas stated Chair Farrington raises a good point and felt he did not want to get into that 
level of regulation. He stated he was in favor of the ordinance, but the City would need be ready for 
the enforcement issue. 
  
Mr. Kost, with respect to the 10 feet spacing issue, stated if someone is driving 30 miles an hour, you 
would travel 10 feet in .227 seconds, which means you see four and a half of these signs per second. 
He felt this was a lot of clutter and could be distracting to drivers. 

Page 76 of 146



 

2025-177  

  
Mr. Hoefer asked what the motivation for this ordinance was. The Mayor responded by saying there 
are manufacturers on Optical Avenue who have been asked to remove signs. He stated he cannot 
address the height and distance issue but would hope that this is what the public hearing would elicit. 
Stakeholders that have an interest offer their opinions. He stated the reason he supports this and 
believes it is unique to these districts is that when you look at the sign code and what it is intending to 
prohibit, it is obstructions and interference of pedestrian access. The Mayor stated he did not feel 
those kinds of issues exist in these designated zones. He did not feel there would be pedestrian 
obstructions so long as the signs are kept out of the right-of-way. 
  
Chair Bosley stated she would like to discuss the distance issue raised by Mr. Kost before this item 
moves on to the public hearing process. 
  
Councilor Haas stated, with respect to spacing issues, it would be good to have that data and know 
what other guidelines there might be by which the committee should keep an eye out for. He felt the 
real question is going to come from Commerce areas as to why those areas can’t have these types 
of signs. Councilor Haas addressed Ms. Mastrogiovanni, who owns a business, and asked for her 
opinion on these signs. Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated she has used these signs but not in Keene and 
stated they are good for marketing, but did not feel they were very attractive. She agreed with the 
time allotted to them and raised concern about Staff having the time for enforcement and felt how 
many in a row is something that should also be addressed. 
  
Chair Farrington asked about off premises sign. Ms. Brunner stated they are prohibited. 
  
Councilor Jones thanked Staff for bringing this item up as a draft and was glad this issue is being 
considered for two districts. He also thanked Staff for finding the section, which makes this consistent 
with the master plan. He felt the draft accomplishes what the Mayor is looking for and it should be 
moved forward. 
  
Mr. Hoefer referred to the area on Maple Avenue where the Baptist Church is located and noted that 
one side of the street permits this sign, but the opposite side doesn’t and asked that the committee 
keep this in mind for inconsistencies. The Chair felt perhaps the area across the street was low 
density, and these signs would not be permitted in those locations. She went on to say if this 
ordinance was successful, the city is likely going to expand it to other zones as long as it was not 
creating a burden on code enforcement and creating terrible obstructions for drivers and pedestrians. 
If that happened it will likely be rescinded. 
  
Mr. Clements noted the City cannot regulate content for signage it can only regulate form and 
location. 
  
Mayor Kahn stated zoning was not something he looked at when he brought this forward. He looked 
at Optical Avenue (Industrial Park). He noted another location where this would be most appropriate 
is at Black Brook Corporate Park. However, this is not an area that is listed. 
  
Chair Bosley stated her one concern is the lots near the roundabout and the distraction that could 
occur for cars traveling through, especially with drivers who are already uncomfortable using 
roundabouts but stated this was not enough to make any changes right now. 
  
Ms. Brunner stated she has heard a few concerns: distance between the signs, limiting the number of 

Page 77 of 146



 

2025-177  

signs, and distance to the setback from an intersection. She stated there could be an A version 
created or this item could be placed on more time and Staff could bring back another draft for 
consideration by the committee. 
  
The Mayor felt the distance from an intersection is a valid precaution. He wasn’t sure how to regulate 
distance. However, getting the language correct was important. 
  
Chair Bosley posed the following questions to the committee: 
1. Does the committee want to see a number of these flags per lot? Two Yes – Two No 
2. Does the committee want to see a greater distance than ten feet between the flags? Two Yes Two 
No 
3. Do we want to see a restriction on the flags being adjacent to an intersection? Everyone said Yes 
  
The Chair asked that staff create and A version and keep it moving forward. 
  
Councilor Jones asked about including the Corporate Park District. Ms. Brunner stated if Corporate 
Park was to be included, she would suggest continuing this item to see if it needs to be re-noticed. 
  
The Chair asked that this be moved forward to get some experience with it and then look at other 
zones that could be included. 
  
Ms. Brunner asked the Committee for the specific changes they would like to make to the language 
of the ordinance. Chair Bosley asked staff what they would recommend based on the Committee’s 
discussion. Ms. Brunner suggested that Item #1 of the ordinance be amended to read as follows: 
“Feather Signs that are 20 sf or less in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts (sign permit 
required, max duration of 30 days at a time and no more than four times per year per property, 
spaced at least 10 ft apart, set back 15 feet from the property line and a minimum of 25 feet from an 
intersection).” 
  
A motion was made by Chair Bosley to amend the ordinance to include a setback from an 
intersection to a minimum of 25 feet and create an A version of the ordinance. The motion was 
seconded by Councilor Jones and was unanimously approved.   
  
There was no public comment as there was no public to address the committee. The public comment 
portion of the workshop was opened and closed.  
  
Councilor Jones stated churches are referred to as institutional use and it takes an 8 vote from 
council to locate a church in any zone and they have to abide by the zone they are located in. 
  
A motion was made by Councilor Jones that the Planning Licenses and Development Committee 
request the Mayor to set a public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-08-A. The motion was seconded by 
Councilor Madison and was unanimously approved. 
  
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board finds Ordinance O-2025-08-A 
consistent with the 2010 Master Plan. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was 
unanimously approved." 
 

Page 78 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-08-A 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Feather Signs in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts  

 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 

 

That Chapter 100 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby 
further amended by deleting the stricken text and adding the bolded and underlined text, as follows.  

 

1. That Table 10-2, “Prohibited Signs,” be amended to create an exception under Animated Signs for 
temporary Feather Signs on properties in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts. The intent of 
this change is to allow Feather Signs for up to 30 days at a time and no more than four times per 
year with appropriate spacing between signs and a reasonable setback from the property line. A 
sign permit is required to ensure Feather Signs are safely installed.  

Feather Signs that are 20 sf or less in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts (sign 

permit required, max duration of 30 days at a time and no more than four times per year 

per property, spaced at least 10 ft apart, set back 15 feet from the property line and a 

minimum of 25 feet from an intersection). 

 

2. That the following definition for “Feather Sign” be added to Article 29, “Defined Terms” of the 
Land Development Code: 

Feather Sign (also known as Blade Sail Sign) - A sign made of flexible material that 
is generally, but not always, rectangular in shape and attached to a pole on one side 
so the sign can move with the wind.  

 
 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

Page 79 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-08-A 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Feather Signs in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts  

 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 

 

That Chapter 100 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby 
further amended by deleting the stricken text and adding the bolded and underlined text, as follows.  

 

1. That Table 10-2, “Prohibited Signs,” be amended to create an exception under Animated Signs for 
temporary Feather Signs on properties in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts. The intent of 
this change is to allow Feather Signs for up to 30 days at a time and no more than four times per 
year with appropriate spacing between signs and a reasonable setback from the property line. A 
sign permit is required to ensure Feather Signs are safely installed.  

Feather Signs that are 20 sf or less in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts (sign 

permit required, max duration of 30 days at a time and no more than four times per year 

per property, spaced at least 10 ft apart, and set back 15 feet from the property line and 

a minimum of 25 feet from an intersection). 

 

2. That the following definition for “Feather Sign” be added to Article 29, “Defined Terms” of the 
Land Development Code: 

Feather Sign (also known as Blade Sail Sign) - A sign made of flexible material that 
is generally, but not always, rectangular in shape and attached to a pole on one side 
so the sign can move with the wind.  

 
 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

Page 80 of 146



MEMORANDUM 
 
 

To:  Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD Committee 

From:  Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

Date:  April 8, 2025  

Subject:  O-2025-08 Relative to Amendments to the Sign Code to Allow Feather Signs in the 
Industrial and Industrial Park Districts 

 

 
 
Overview 
This Ordinance proposes to amend Table 10-2 “Prohibited Signs” to create an exception under 

Animated Signs for temporary Feather Signs on properties in the Industrial and Industrial Park 

Districts. The intent of this change is to allow Feather Signs for up to 30 days at a time and no 

more than four times per year with appropriate spacing between signs and a reasonable setback 

from the property line. A sign permit is required to ensure Feather Signs are safely installed. The 

proposal also includes a definition for Feather Signs.   

Background 
 
Sign Code Overview 
 
The City of Keene Sign Code is in Article 10 of the Land Development Code, which is part of the 
zoning regulations for the City. The purpose of the sign code is to: 
 

“Establish a legal framework for a comprehensive and balanced system of signs in order to 
achieve the following objectives.  

1. Help to allow the free flow of traffic and protect the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists and 
motorists, which may be impacted by cluttered, distracting or illegible signage.  

2. Avoid excessive levels of visual clutter or distraction that are potentially harmful to property 
values, business opportunities and community appearance.  

3. Promote the use of signs that are aesthetically pleasing, of appropriate scale, and integrated 
with the surrounding buildings and landscape.” 

The sign code is organized by permitted signs that are allowed with a sign permit (e.g., wall signs, 
projecting signs, marquee, freestanding, etc.), exempt signs that are permitted without a sign 
permit (e.g., government signs or flags, informational/directional signs, interior merchandise 
displays, etc.), and prohibited signs that are not allowed in the City. This last category is detailed 
in Table 10-2 of Article 10 and includes signs such as animated signs, electronic changeable copy 
signs, roof signs, fluorescent signs, etc.  
 
In addition, signs are further split into permanent signs and temporary signs. Both categories of 
sign require a sign permit from the Community Development Department to ensure the sign is 
installed safely and does not constitute a hazard.  

Page 81 of 146



Industrial and Industrial Park District Overview 
 
The Industrial District is located in several areas south of Route 101 as shown in Figure 1 and is 
intended to provide space for industrial activities (e.g. manufacturing, warehousing, distribution) 
not typically suited for commercial areas by virtue of operational characteristics and space 
needs. Retail sales and offices are allowed only as accessory uses. 
 
The Industrial Park District is located in two areas in Keene, including the Optical Avenue area in 
southeast Keene (Figure 1) and along Maple Avenue near Route 12 (Figure 2). This district is 
intended to provide for relatively low-intensity manufacturing and research and development 
firms that are employee intensive, clean in nature, and promote an attractive industrial park 
environment. Service operations and sales activities are generally excluded from this district, 
except for minor sales that may be accessory to the primary use. 
 

 
Figure 1. Image that shows areas zoning for Industrial (dark purple) and Industrial Park (light purple) in South Keene. 

 

 
Figure 2. Image that shows the area zoned for Industrial Park along Maple Avenue and Route 12 in light purple. 

 

Page 82 of 146



Feather Sign Overview 
 
Feather Signs are a type of advertising signage 
that are used to draw the attention of foot 
and/or street traffic (depending on location and 
size) to an event or business location. They get 
their name from their tall, thin, feather-like 
structure and come in many sizes, ranging from 
about 7 feet to 20 feet tall. These signs 
generally last between six months to a few 
years, depending on how often they are used, 
weather conditions, and how they are 
maintained. Example feather signs are shown in 
Figure 3.  
 
Under the City of Keene Sign Code, feather signs 
are considered to be a type of Animated Sign 
due to their design to move in the wind and 
attract attention. They are currently prohibited 
in the City.  
 
Discussion 
 
This ordinance proposes to allow feather signs that are 20sf or less on properties in the Industrial 
District and the Industrial Park District for a maximum duration of 30 days at a time, and no more 
than four times per year. In addition, this ordinance would require that the signs be spaced 10 
feet apart from each other and set back 15 feet from the property line. The proposed definition 
for “Feather Sign” is as follows: 
 

Feather Sign (also known as Blade Sail Sign) - A sign made of flexible material that is 

generally, but not always, rectangular in shape and attached to a pole on one side so the 

sign can move with the wind.  

Potential impacts of this proposed change that should be considered include the following: 
 

• Enforcement – this change, which would allow this type of sign on some properties within 
the City but not others, may make enforcement more challenging for staff due to potential 
confusion among property owners about what is and is not allowed in certain areas of 
the City.  

• Safety – Feather signs are designed to catch the wind and can blow over in high wind 
conditions. To mitigate this concern, this ordinance proposes that the signs be installed 
at least 15 feet from the property line to reduce the chance of a sign blowing into the road 
or falling over onto a sidewalk. In addition, a sign permit will be required to ensure the 
signs are properly installed and affixed to the ground. 

• Aesthetics – One of the purposes of the sign code is to “Avoid excessive levels of visual 
clutter or distraction that are potentially harmful to property values, business opportunities 
and community appearance” and “Promote the use of signs that are aesthetically pleasing, 
of appropriate scale, and integrated with the surrounding buildings and landscape.” Feather 

Figure 3. Image of Feather Signs advertising a store closing 
event. Attribution: ShareAlike 4.0 International. License link: 
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/ 

Page 83 of 146



signs are designed to attract attention and can be districting to drivers if they are installed 
close to the road or are too cluttered. This ordinance proposes that the signs be spaced 
at least 10 feet apart to prevent them from being installed right on top of each other, and 
also proposes that they be set back at least 15 feet from the property line.  

• Economic Benefits – Feather signs are a popular and effective form of advertising that 
can be used to promote hiring events, sales, etc. and can have a positive economic 
impact on businesses that rely on pass-by food or vehicular traffic. However, used in 
excess, they can lower property values of nearby properties.  

 
Consistency with the Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) 
 
The 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan recognizes that, for over a century, Keene has been a 
community mainly based on local manufacturing and agriculture. To that end, the plan includes 
a strategy to “encourage and recruit industries that are in line with building up local manufacturing 
and industrial economy.” In addition, the plan notes that “High quality jobs that pay a living wage 
are viewed as imperative to Keene’s long term economic sustainability, expansion of tax base 
and lessening the tax burden on homeowners. Growing the job base will require a multi-pronged 
approach including fostering local start-up companies, retaining and expanding existing firms, 
and new business recruitment. All of these need strong attention and new programs to succeed.” 
 
Allowing feather signs for advertising in the Industrial and Industrial Park Districts would help 
these businesses advertise events and job opportunities, which may help to retain these 
businesses and grow the local workforce.  

Page 84 of 146



 

2025-178  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #G.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
    
Through: Paul Andrus, Community Development Director 
     
Subject: Relative to Single-Family Parking Requirements Ordinance O-2025-09 - 

Joint PB/PLD Committee 
     
  
Recommendation: 
A motion was made by Councilor Jones that the Planning Licenses and Development Committee 
request the Mayor to set a public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-09. The motion was seconded by 
Councilor Madison and was unanimously approved. 
  
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board finds Ordinance O-2025-09 
consistent with the 2010 Master Plan. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was 
unanimously approved. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-09_Single Family Parking Requirements 
2. Staff Report O-2025-09 
  
  
Background: 
Included below is an excerpt from the draft minutes of the April 14, 2025 public workshop where this 
item was discussed: 
 
"c. Ordinance – O-2025-09 – Relating to Single Family Parking Requirements. Petitioner, City of 
Keene Community Development Department, proposes to amend Table 9.1 of the Land 
Development Code to require one parking space for “Dwelling, Single Family.” 
  
Chair Bosley stated this is a housekeeping item that came out of the parking ordinance change, 
which failed to include a parking requirement for single-family dwellings. 
  
Planner Evan Clements addressed the Committee and stated that this ordinance is to fix an error 
from a previous ordinance that accidentally omitted “Dwelling, Single-Family” from the parking table. 
This would bring the parking requirement for single-family dwellings in line with all other residential 
uses in the City. 
  

Page 85 of 146



 

2025-178  

There was no public comment as there was no public to address the committee. The public comment 
portion of the workshop was opened and closed.  
 
A motion was made by Councilor Jones that the Planning Licenses and Development Committee 
request the Mayor to set a public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-09. The motion was seconded by 
Councilor Madison and was unanimously approved. 
  
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board finds Ordinance O-2025-09 
consistent with the 2010 Master Plan. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was 
unanimously approved." 
 

Page 86 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-09 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Parking Requirements for Single Family Dwellings 

 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 
 

That Chapter 100 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby 
further amended, as follows.  

 

1. That Table 9-1 “Minimum On-Site Parking Requirements” of Article 9 “Residential Uses” be 
amended to display “Dwelling, Single-Family” under “Residential Uses” with a minimum parking 
requirement of 1 space per unit. 

 
 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

Page 87 of 146



MEMORANDUM 
 
 

To:  Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD Committee 

From:  Evan J. Clements, AICP - Planner 

Date:  April 14, 2025  

Subject:  O-2025-09 Relating to Parking Requirements for Single Family Dwellings 
 
 
Overview 
This Ordinance proposes to modify the required amount of parking spaces for the Dwelling, 
Single-Family residential use category in the Zoning Ordinance. The proposal will bring the single-
family use in alignment with other residential uses by requiring one parking space per single 
family residence. 
 
Background 
During the recently adopted Ordinance O-2024-20-A process, the single-family use was 
inadvertently omitted from table 9.1. This omission removed the requirement for a single-family 
use to have any minimum required parking. By reinserting “Dwelling, Single-Family” back into the 
table, all residential uses in the City will be aligned with one parking space per unit, or less. 
 
Discussion 
The intent of Ordinance O-2024-20-A was to reduce barriers to housing development by reducing 
the overall minimum parking requirement for residential uses within the City. The reduction would 
not limit an applicant from proposing more parking than is required to meet the estimated parking 
demand of a project. During the adoption of this Ordinance, it was discovered that the single-
family use was unintentionally omitted from the revised table 9.1. This resulted in the elimination 
of the minimum parking requirement for single family residences. 
 
Consistency with the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan 
The highest priority implementation recommendation from the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan 
is to rewrite the land use and zoning code to align with the intent of the Future Land Use Map (Fig. 
1). The plan states, “As the community moves forward with this revision, other types of land-use 
regulations should be considered that will incorporate walkability, green infrastructure, sustainable 
building, a smart-growth principle and other features outlined in this plan.”  
 
The plan recommends concentrating growth in the primary growth area and allowing for carefully 
planned growth and density in secondary growth areas, while prioritizing conservation of land in 
rural and agricultural areas. This proposal is aligned with the intent of Ordinance O-2024-20-A to 
reduce barriers to multifamily, senior, and workforce housing development and allow for more 
efficient use of land in the primary and secondary growth areas of the Future Land Use Map, 
where multifamily dwellings are typically allowed. It also reduced the parking requirement for 
single-family dwellings which are allowed outside the primary and secondary growth areas; 
however, density in these areas of the City are controlled by other factors such as lot size and 
maximum impervious coverage.  
 

Page 88 of 146



 
FIGURE 1. City of Keene Future Land Use Map. 
 

 

Page 89 of 146



 

2025-143  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #H.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Stephen Bragdon and Cheryl Belair - Safety Issues Associated with the 

Driveway at 82 Court Street 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time with staff to report back at the May meeting. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Chair Greenwald asked to hear from the Petitioner. 
  
Stephen Bragdon stated that he and Ms. Belair thank the Committee for having this hearing, although 
it was not his and Ms. Belair’s intention when they sent their letter. He continued that they just 
wanted to point out to the Committee and the City that there continues to be an issue (at 82 Court 
St.). He thanks them for all the time they spent on this last year. The letter seems to have stirred up 
some interest in the neighborhood. Last time they discussed this issue, the Council decided they 
needed to treat all the driveways in the area the same. He did not and does not think that is the case. 
He thinks they could differentiate between driveways by their views and a person’s ability to see the 
cars coming from either direction as well as by the amount of traffic. The more traffic, the higher the 
chance of having an accident. 
  
Mr. Bragdon continued that the solution to his and Ms. Belair’s problem would be to increase the 
distance where cars cannot park from the north end of their driveway, maybe another car length. 
When you come out, you cannot see cars coming from the north if all those parking spaces are 
occupied. You are too low. You can sometimes catch a glimpse through the windows of parked cars, 
but it is difficult. He is used to the driveway and is thus very careful coming out. He will not risk 
darting out into traffic, but people who are not used to the driveway do that and can cause an 
accident. Regarding the woman whose accident they talked about, it was her first time using the 
driveway and she was not familiar with it. 
  
Mr. Bragdon continued that he thinks the Council could differentiate the driveways based on those 

Page 90 of 146



 

2025-143  

two things, the amount of traffic and how much visual distance a driveway has. Perhaps an easier 
solution would be to put parking meters on both sides, up past where it becomes more residential. 
People do not park further down on West St. because they would have to pay the parking meters. 
Thus, people start (parking) at his and Ms. Belair’s driveway because that is where the meters stop. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he is interested in being supportive, but what they need is to determine 
what makes Mr. Bragdon’s and Ms. Belair’s driveway different from all the other driveways. That is 
the challenge. 
  
Nathan Alexander of 81 Court St. stated that he is directly across the street from Mr. Bragdon and 
Ms. Belair’s building and is also speaking on behalf of 83 Court St., the Aloha Yoga studio owned by 
JC Russell. He continued that the main topic is that there have been a series of accidents coming out 
of the driveway, going back to 2021, for the exact same reasons. Cars parked on Court St. to the 
south and north encroach on the driveway. This goes back many years as it pertains to 83 Court St., 
which was formerly the American Red Cross. Years ago, the Red Cross’s bloodmobile could not 
even get into the driveway. The solution then was a series of “No parking here to corner” signs, to 
keep cars away from that outer apron so people coming and going could see. That signage has since 
been removed. There are no signs on either side at 81 Court St. or 83 Court St., although there are 
painted lines for parking. 
  
Mr. Alexander continued that the painted lines are often not observed. People squeeze their cars in 
behind a parking space, which results in the tail of a car encroaching into his driveway. This means 
that a driver exiting the driveway has to fish around that encroaching parked car and be looking up 
and down to the north and south. His building has a lot of traffic, with offices for five psychotherapists, 
so there are people coming and going all day. The parking lot fills up. People drive in, realize there is 
no room, and drive back out to find a spot on Court St. 
  
Mr. Alexander continued that the accidents here started to ramp up about five years ago. Thus, they 
brought this to the City’s attention through email and included photos of people’s vehicles 
encroaching the driveway. At that point, the City’s response was that once the parking spaces were 
plotted out on Court St., much of this problem would go away. Mr. Alexander noted the problem has 
not gone away. He is not aware of any accidents involving vehicles coming out of 81 Court St. in the 
last 12 months, but the accident in the Bragdon building at 82 Court St. is a big concern to him. The 
81 Court St. side has an added hazard as well, low fruit trees that impede the view. Thus, as people 
are looking left and right while trying to get out of his driveway, they have to look over big SUVs and 
through these fruit trees. 
  
Mr. Alexander continued that he does not have a specific solution, but if consistency and continuity in 
the area are the main objectives, they do not have that right now. Photos show that the Bragdon 
building has a sign saying, “No parking here to corner,” and one parking space has zig-zag markings 
to prohibit parking, and still that accident happened there. The visibility at 81 Court St. is probably 
30% to 40% less than at the Bragdon building. To the north, two buildings close to Putnam’s 1911 
Office are a corner with the same zig zags indicating no parking. Thus, some property owners have 
more clear demarcations for no parking, but 81 Court St. does not. Some have signage, some do not. 
They are very concerned about anyone visiting the offices. Many are senior citizens. 
  
Mr. Alexander continued that just before this meeting, he and JC Russell emailed a memorandum for 
the Committee’s review with documentation of specific accidents going back to 2021. They can 
consider those along with the accident Mr. Bragdon and Ms. Belair referred to. Thus, this has been a 

Page 91 of 146



 

2025-143  

documented problem. They appreciate the parking spaces and all the time the City has put into 
understanding the matter, but they still contend with an unsafe situation. 
  
Public Works Director Don Lussier said he largely agrees with everything said tonight. He continued 
by saying that he understands that seeing around a car parked close to your driveway can be 
difficult. There were a couple of items in Mr. Bragdon’s letter that he cannot speak to right now. He 
does not have specific data about the traffic speed on Court St. He suspects that if they measured it, 
they would find what they find in other major arteries throughout the city, that the 85th percentile is 
between 30 and 34 mph. He wishes he could find something unique about Mr. Bragdon’s driveway 
that would pose a special hardship on that one property where the City could say, here is a 
circumstance that warrants treat this property differently than every other property, but he cannot find 
that. As Mr. Alexander pointed out, across the street, they have a hard time seeing around cars that 
are parked in front of their driveway. He thinks if they polled the neighborhood, they would find that 
the condition exists up and down Court St. and up and down Washington St. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that he should point out that it is completely within the Committee’s purview to 
direct staff to write an Ordinance to make this a “no parking” zone and staff will do it. The caution he 
offers is that it would be very difficult when the next applicant comes in and says they have trouble 
seeing around the cars parked near their driveway and request a couple of those parking spaces be 
eliminated on either side of the driveway. What he and the City Attorney have been talking about, 
and what they have talked about at previous meetings, is that consistency. Mr. Bragdon, however, 
had a wonderful idea. If they want to extend paid parking up Court St., he thinks that is a great idea. 
  
Councilor Tobin asked if they have looked at the overall safety issue in this area. She continued that 
they have another item on their agenda that also talks about that area. Thus, she wonders if they can 
step back from focusing on one specific property and look at the area. 
  
Mr. Lussier replied that the next agenda item is about crosswalks, and he has information to share 
with the Committee about that. He continued that he thinks there are improvements they could make 
to the crosswalk, but he does not know how much that relates to the driveway concern. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that the way she is looking at it is several businesses are concerned about 
safety in the area for driving reasons. Other people are concerned about pedestrian safety in that 
area. She wonders, looking at that and putting those things together, if there is a different approach, 
not just the sidewalks and not just one driveway, but looking at the overall roadway safety of the 
area. Mr. Lussier replied that he thinks there are two separate situations, and there are different ways 
of addressing them.  
  
Councilor Filiault stated that he is intrigued by the idea of extending the parking meters up the street. 
He continued that he does not want the Committee to just accept this item as informational. He 
realizes that sometimes they run up against the concern of what the next person might say, but if the 
Council always had that concern, they would never get anything done. They cannot always be 
worried about what the next scenario might be. This Council has the authority to make the changes, 
and if someone else wants to come in and complain, they can. He thinks that tonight, the Committee 
needs to come to a consensus on what changes to make, because it is unacceptable to do nothing. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that, to piggyback off Councilor Tobin’s question, nothing prevents the 
Council from changing the length of parking from driveways throughout the city. She asked if that is 
correct. Mr. Lussier replied Yes. Councilor Workman continued that to Councilor Tobin’s point, the 

Page 92 of 146



 

2025-143  

agenda has a couple of items about nearby Court St. with similar safety concerns. In addition, HCS 
was here not too long ago with concerns about their driveway. As a driver of a small hatchback, she 
understands the difficulty of being in a vehicle low to the ground and trying to edge out in between 
high SUVs or trucks. She does not see why they could not review this and change the length of the 
(no parking area). Yes, it cuts into the parking lot, but safety should come before parking. 
  
Mr. Lussier stated that nothing would prevent the Council from changing that. He continued that the 
parking code has a “general prohibition” section that lists all the areas in which you are not allowed to 
park, such as in front of a fire hydrant or within 30 feet of an intersection. The list includes, “in front of 
or in close proximity to a private driveway.” The code does not define a specific distance. Staff has 
internally interpreted that to mean five feet. The last time this was before the Council, they looked at 
other communities that had similar language to see what they used. For communities that specify the 
distance, the range is about two to five feet. Thus, staff thought five feet was reasonable, but there is 
nothing magic about five feet. The Council could choose 10, 20, or 30 feet. They looked at different 
options last time. 
  
Cheryl Belair of 82 Court St. stated that she heard someone question how they differentiate between 
this and other driveways. She continued that she would say there are two points to that. First, they 
are a business at 82 Court St., as is Mr. Alexander at 81 Court St., and just north of them, it is all 
residential. Also, they are at the bottom of the hill on Court St. Speed is a problem. She is sure there 
is a way to confirm what the average speed is when you get to just before 82 Court St. Speed picks-
up. She drives it every day and her speed picks-up, and she is very careful because anyone could be 
coming out of her driveway, and there could be an accident. Speed does play a part, and the 
property being on the downward slope increases the difficulty of seeing cars from the north coming 
south. 
  
Ms. Belair continued that this is a safety concern. For her and Mr. Bragdon, it is not about the 
parking. It does not matter to them that people park in front of their building. They have a parking lot 
and plenty of space for their staff and clients. But anyone leaving is “taking their life in their own 
hands” by doing so, which is a real concern. It is very dangerous. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he has a question for Ms. Belair or Mr. Bragdon, and Mr. Alexander 
can weigh on this as well if he wants to. He continued that he wants to know if they think the 
extension of the parking meters would be enough of a solution, or if that is at least a good first step. 
He thinks the Committee members agree that that is the safest step for them. 
  
Mr. Bragdon replied that he thinks it would help. He continued that obviously, with parking meters 
there, people could continue to park front to back and you still cannot see when exiting the driveway. 
On the other hand, they are covered with parking, and further down the street where there are 
parking meters, no one parks. He thinks that the people who park there and walk downtown are there 
more often than people who park there for an hour to go to one of the offices.  
  
Mr. Alexander stated that specifically speaking on behalf of JC Russell of Aloha Yoga at 83 Court St., 
Mr. Russell told him today that he is not in support of extending parking meters. He continued that he 
himself echoes what Ms. Belair said about how it really is a safety issue. When any vehicle is parked, 
metered or not, so close to his driveway that you cannot see over it or around it, the only answer is to 
creep slowly into traffic. Speaking on behalf of the many senior citizens who visit the building, all that 
would help is a metered parking space that has nobody in it, which does not benefit the City from a 
revenue perspective and it is not a useful space if it is empty. He does not think it would be a great 

Page 93 of 146



 

2025-143  

solution for 81 Court St. Instead, he thinks of Mr. Lussier’s question of whether five feet is enough, 
with today’s trucks and SUVs, given the nature and frequency of the accidents they have seen. And if 
five feet is not enough, the question is what is. Perhaps at 81 Court St. where they also have low fruit 
trees, five feet is not great. Maybe five feet would be appropriate on a different side. This is a hard 
issue. They are just here representing the accident frequency, which is the driving factor. 
  
City Manager Elizabeth Ferland stated that Mr. Lussier mentioned that staff has not done a recent 
speed study on this street, so that might be a good next step. She continued that in addition, there 
was a lot of work done the last time this issue was discussed, regarding the distance and what that 
meant in terms of the parking configuration. She thinks it might be challenging to add meters that far 
up, because many downtown employees are looking for long term free parking opportunities, so that 
might create another issue. She wonders if they can place this on more time and have staff come 
back and refresh the Committee on the configuration of parking with different lengths of distances 
between driveways. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that they might consider the option of putting “compact cars only” for 
parking in certain spots. She continued that she does not know the Public Works Director’s thoughts 
on that. Mr. Lussier replied that there are a couple of issues with that. He continued that he does not 
know how that could be enforced. He thinks they could limit it to compact cars only, but it would be 
very difficult from a logistical, operational perspective. There would probably have to be a sign at 
each of those driveways, on both sides, saying “compact vehicle parking only.” Otherwise, he does 
not know how someone coming to the city would know that that space is for compact vehicles only.  
  
Jay Kahn, Mayor, stated that he wants to offer some support to those on Court St. who have a 
commercial business and commercial driveway, whether for profit or not-for-profit. He continued that 
they have the evidence of the number of comings and goings that 82 Court St. has provided. He 
thinks the others ought to be asked to provide comparable information. He does not have a solution, 
and he is glad to hear the Committee is willing to entertain some solutions. He believes that safety 
needs to outweigh precedent, and he looks forward to what can come back from City staff. He thinks 
it is important to do this. He travels Court St. two to six times a day, and is cautious, but he frequently 
sees people inching out. Every time that happens, someone is putting themselves at risk and is 
saying, ‘there is an at-risk situation, I cannot visibly see and safely operate my vehicle in this 
particular situation.’ Thus, he thinks there is plenty of evidence for them to take this under 
consideration, and he appreciates the Committee asking for that from the City Manager and Public 
Works. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he has a question for the City Manager and maybe the Public Works 
Director. He asked what the details of the staff update would be, if the Committee motions to place 
this on more time with a staff update at the May meeting. 
  
The City Manager replied that she envisions them returning with the work that had been completed 
last year regarding the configuration of parking on Court St., if the distance would change between 
driveways and parking spaces. There was a rather thorough analysis done of that last year, so that 
would be a start. Then, she thinks this idea of considering commercial property versus residential 
property is something they could look at a little more closely. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he thinks there are many creative people who could put their heads 
together and make this work. He supports placing this on more time. Councilor Filiault replied that he 
is fine with that, for one cycle. He continued that he does not think this is a speed issue. He thinks it 

Page 94 of 146



 

2025-143  

is just too busy. He drives on Court St. frequently, too, and the Mayor is right about cars inching out 
and looking left and right. It happens quickly. In his opinion, the Committee could address this 
individual request and approve expanding the space between the driveways. He is willing to (place 
this on more time) for 30 days and have it come back, but he fully expects them to do something 
about this in 30 days. He does not want to put this off any longer. It is not that complicated. He is not 
worried that the Council adding a couple of feet could cause someone in the future to get jealous; 
they could come in the following week with a request. At some point, the Council has to do 
something. 
  
George Benik asked if speed bumps would be an option for slowing people down, not just on Court 
St., but throughout the city. He continued that the speed limit on Arch St. is 30 mph, but people go 50 
or 60 mph. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he thinks he knows what the Public Works Director will say about speed 
bumps and plowing, but they can put it into the conversation, because he thinks the Committee is 
aiming toward placing this matter on more time so staff (can work on it). He continued that he 
encourages staff to reach out to all the interested parties to get their input. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that she would support placing this on more time. She continued that she 
feels like there are similarities between this situation and Water St., in that with people coming and 
going to downtown, they might not be driving over the speed limit, but they are either escalating or 
have not started de-escalating. She rarely tries to cross that intersection (on foot), but when she does 
try, people rarely stop when she is at the crosswalk. She thinks they are driving too fast to be able to 
stop. She hopes they can consider that entire stretch of road and whether a stop sign in a different 
place could impact the speed at that intersection and help slow drivers down. 
  
Councilor Favolise made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time with staff to report back at the May meeting. 
 

Page 95 of 146



 

2025-158  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #H.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Ian D. Matheson - Court Street Pedestrian Safety Risks 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time to allow the Petitioner to be present. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Chair Greenwald stated that he was told Mr. Matheson was unable to attend tonight’s meeting. He 
continued that it would be appropriate to place the item on more time to allow Mr. Matheson the 
opportunity to address his communication. 
  
Councilor Workman made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time to allow the Petitioner to be present. 
 

Page 96 of 146



 

2025-152  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #H.3. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Adam Toepfer - Request to Add Audio and Data Cables as Part of 

Downtown Infrastructure Project 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time to allow the petitioner to be present. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Chair Greenwald asked to hear from Adam Toepfer. An unidentified member of the public replied that 
Mr. Toepfer could not make it tonight. 
  
Councilor Filiault made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Tobin. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time to allow the petitioner to be present. 
 

Page 97 of 146



 

2025-108  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #H.4. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Proposal to Add the Necessary Infrastructure to Accommodate Banners 

Across Main Street 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 4-1, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 
more time. Councilor Workman voted in opposition. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Mr. Lussier stated that they were talking about this matter at the previous MSFI Committee meeting, 
and the Committee asked staff to investigate a few different questions and return with more 
information. He continued that first, he wants to show the Committee some renderings staff had their 
consultant, Stantec, prepare. Option 1 is a rendering of what a standalone banner might look like. 
The rendering is from the perspective of a vehicle headed north, just short of Emerald St., and is 
drawn to scale. This version is a 4’ by 35’ banner, centered on both lanes of the roadway, centered 
over the median. Mr. Lussier went on to display a banner over the northbound lane only. Personally, 
he thinks this option looks better with it just over the northbound lane. He continued that it is not 
shown in the displayed image, but they could also have a third pole on the west side of Main St. and 
have one banner for northbound traffic and one for southbound traffic. Or they could have banners 
both facing south, but over both sections of roadway. 
  
Mr. Lussier stated that any overhead obstruction on a roadway typically requires 16 feet of clearance. 
He continued that the NH Department of Transportation (NHDOT) and Federal Highway 
Administration will allow exceptions to go down to approximately 14 feet. He brings this up because 
of the next image. The Committee asked him to look at the possibility of attaching to buildings on 
either side of the roadway, instead of having the large poles in the public sphere. The displayed 
image depicted The Works at the south end and Good Fortune at the north end. That building is just 
slightly under 16 feet above the sidewalk. Thus, even if they pushed the banner all the way to the top, 
it would be well below the elevation that it needs to be. The requestors suggested the banner go at 
Emerald St. but attaching it to the buildings is not a viable option. It might technically be possible to 
do some kind of pole or outrigger on the building to hold it, but it would make the engineering much 

Page 98 of 146



 

2025-108  

more complicated and cumbersome, so he does not support that idea. 
  
The next building has Edward Jones, and across the street, the former Miller Brothers building. That 
building has enough height on both sides of the street, where they could conceivably have a banner 
connected between the two. Option 3, at that location from Edward Jones to the Miller Brothers 
building, is about a 135-foot total span distance. It would not be a straight line; there would be a 
drape in the wire. It would sag about 16-18 inches, which would be noticeable. Yes, it is technically 
feasible, but he does not love this option, as he foresees the agreement they would need with private 
property owners to allow this infrastructure to be attached to their building. If a windstorm pulls the 
anchor out of their building and breaks a bunch of bricks, the question would be how to fix that. He 
sees many operational challenges with this approach. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that last is looking at the same kind of situation on West St. On West St., as 
you approach Main St., the buildings are much taller and closer together. There is about a 55- to 60-
foot span, depending on which buildings you attach to. At that span, the sag in the wire goes down to 
about 4 to 6 inches. If the Committee’s preferred approach is to attach it to a building, he thinks they 
should consider West St. instead of Main St. It would be simpler to do. 
  
Mr. Lussier continued that he thinks the last question was from Councilor Tobin, regarding the policy 
and how they would operate the banner. City staff discussed it and came up with these bullet point 
suggestions for how to implement this. First, they recommend this only be made available to 
community-funded events, the ten events that receive City funds through the budget process every 
year. In addition, of course, the banner infrastructure would be utilized for City communications and 
City messaging. Staff recommends it be for community-funded events because there are ten such 
events annually and depending on the potential for overlap and when those events are happening, 
that allows each event to have a display time of 30 days. There would be some overlap. Not 
everyone would be able to get the full 30 days, but generally, they would be able to do up to 30 days. 
Making the banner available only to those community-funded events allows the City to have much 
more control over the content and the purpose. They want the banners to advertise the City as a 
place to come and participate in activities, and to draw people into those activities. Councilor Filiault 
mentioned last month that he saw an event advertised in Concord and that is what brought him back 
to Concord. That is exactly what these banners are supposed to do.  
  
Mr. Lussier continued that if they make the banners available to community-funded events, the 
application would be a checkbox on the community-funded event application package that goes into 
the City Clerk’s Office. Thus, it would be easy to implement. The event organizers would simply ask 
for a reservation of that space as part of their license application for the event. Along with that, staff 
suggest there not be a fee for event organizers to use the banner. If the City is already funding the 
use of the City’s facilities and providing funding for the event, it seems counterproductive to charge 
(the event organizers) a fee to put the banner up. That said, the (event organizers) would be 
responsible for the production of the actual banner, according to City specifications. As they talked 
about last month, the banners would need to be installed by someone with a bucket truck, and a 
traffic control detail to divert traffic around the bucket truck. Staff would want that to be a qualified, 
licensed, and insured installer. The banners would be installed for up to 30 days, subject to 
availability. Staff suggest a requirement that they be removed within three days of the event. To 
ensure prompt removal, they would include a cost recovery provision in the licensing agreement that 
says if the event organizers do not have the banner removed in a timely manner or the banner fails 
and the City must remove it, the City will charge them for that work. 
  

Page 99 of 146



 

2025-108  

Mr. Lussier continued that those are the basic guidelines, the basic outline of what staff suggests. He 
hopes that answers the Committee’s questions and he would be happy to answer others. 
  
Councilor Filiault asked what the cost would be to do the poles, since the buildings are too low. Mr. 
Lussier replied that the cost of the equipment would be about $25,000. He continued that that 
assumes two poles, the pulleys, and the necessary hardware to hang it. He did not get a quote on a 
three-pole, two-banner system, but it would probably be one and a half times that. He estimates that 
the installed cost would be about $50,000. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that Mr. Lussier mentioned that some of the events overlap. He asked if they 
were to do the poles that go all the way across Main St., if they could do one banner on one side and 
another banner on the other side, having two smaller banners up at the same time. Mr. Lussier 
replied that they could have one banner that shares the 35-foot space, but the system is engineered 
for the wind load on a 35-foot by 4-foot sail, basically. Thus, having two 35-foot sails would be more 
force than the pole is designed to accommodate. However, he and the City Clerk talked about how 
the overlapping events could share the cost of producing the banner and each use half of it. 
Councilor Filiault replied that alternately, the banner could advertise a different event on each side. 
Mr. Lussier replied yes. 
  
Chair Greenwald asked, for clarification, if he is saying they could have three poles with two 16-foot 
banners. Mr. Lussier replied yes, he thinks they could design it to have three poles and two 35-foot 
banners. He continued that they would be larger poles with larger bases and would have to be 
designed for the extra weight. Chair Greenwald replied that obviously, the poles are permanent. Mr. 
Lussier replied yes. Chair Greenwald asked if the cable would have to be there at all times. Mr. 
Lussier replied that guy wires connect the poles, top of and bottom of the banner, which stay 
permanently. He continued that a pulley system pulls the banner across the roadway and pulls it 
back to remove it. Those top and bottom cables that the banner clips on stay all the time. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he has several traffic-related questions, but for now, his question is 
about the actual installation of the banner for an individual event, with someone up in the bucket truck 
doing that work. He asked what that looks like in terms of traffic disruption on Main St. during the 
process. Mr. Lussier replied that one lane of Main St. would be closed while the truck was parked 
within it, and they would want some sort of traffic control detail. Most communities require a police 
officer with a cruiser to make sure it is visible and to divert traffic around the bucket truck. Chair 
Greenwald stated that it could be done at 2:00 AM. Mr. Lussier replied that the City can control the 
times the installation happens. He continued that generally, any time before 8:00 AM downtown is 
rather quiet. Installation would not take long, maybe half an hour. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that she has concerns about visibility, if they are talking about a pole, in terms 
of cars pulling out, and pedestrians near one of the crosswalks, which she knows they put a lot of 
thought into. She continued that regarding what Mr. Lussier is referencing, regarding the plan she 
asked about last time, if it is going to be relying on these festivals to create a banner and pay for that, 
she would want to hear from some of them, knowing that that is what they want and that they are 
willing. If the (event organizers) do not want to pay for those banners, even if downtown businesses 
would love to have them there, if the City limits the banners to downtown events, it will just end up 
unused, if the event organizers are not buying banners. Chair Greenwald replied that that is a good 
point. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that initially she supported this, and it sounded like a great idea. She 

Page 100 of 146



 

2025-108  

continued that she always wants to support events in town. However, the more she has learned 
about it, particularly the cost, the more she thinks it is just horrible timing, given the costs associated 
with the Downtown Infrastructure Project. This (banner system) is not a necessity. It goes against all 
the reasoning and logic the Committee used to make decisions about the final design phase. The 
Committee was reducing its decisions based on the costs, so to now add these $75,000 banner 
poles that are not necessities does not make sense. Community events have good attendance now, 
so the marketing seems to work. She appreciates Mr. Pipp and Mr. McGreer bringing it forward, but 
she is really struggling with the timing of this. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that he does not disagree. He continued that he would like to see some 
fundraising done for this and see what happens, so it would not all be based on tax dollars, but he 
thinks the idea is doable and he does not think they should kill it here tonight. He thinks they should 
be positive and say that they can do this. He understands that it will take more than tax dollars, but 
he thinks the request is viable, and staff and downtown merchants should get together and talk about 
it. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that the Committee has not talked about the idea of having the banner on 
West St. He is interested to hear Mr. Pipp’s thoughts on that. 
  
Tim Pipp from Beeze Tees stated that he likes the idea, but he thinks more people come from Main 
St. than from West St. He continued that regarding Councilor Workman’s comments, attendance at 
events is not great. It is very difficult for event organizers to get the word out. There is very little 
money in events in town. Most people are helping organize events just to break even or to raise 
money for a non-profit. Communities such as Manchester, Concord, Portsmouth, and Brattleboro 
have great events, and he is not saying Keene does not, but those communities have the better 
potential to have bigger events. Last time, Councilor Filiault talked about seeing a banner for an 
event in Concord while driving. He himself has also gone to events based on seeing a banner for it. 
He thinks this is the perfect timing. That is why he wrote the letter when he did, because they are 
talking about the infrastructure of downtown. There will already be a hole in the ground, so (it is a 
good time to) put a pole in it, instead of having to dig a new hole. This is thus the perfect time to talk 
about it, rather than in five or ten years when they would have to dig a new hole.  
  
Mr. Pipp continued that he thinks he suggested early on that this is a fundraising event. He does not 
think this is a full-on taxpayer thing; it could be a downtown group thing, or a Chamber of Commerce 
thing, or some other group. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he thinks the idea of three poles should be explored. He continued that 
there is another option – this could be an add alternate to the Downtown Infrastructure Project. If the 
budget comes in okay, they could add it, and if the budget does not come in okay, they will be looking 
to cut a lot of things, and (the banner infrastructure) will not happen. That way, at least they will get 
real numbers on what it might cost. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that like Mr. Pipp just said, he thinks it would work if they could use maybe 
not tax dollars, but a fundraiser, a downtown event, a community event. He continued that this is 
something that can be explored, and he thinks they can make this work. Sometimes elected officials 
look at reasons why they cannot do something, and he wants to look at reasons why they can do 
something. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that they are saying, “Let’s fundraise the money.” She continued that her 

Page 101 of 146



 

2025-108  

question is why they are talking about this now, when there is no money fundraised. She thinks they 
need to bring it back when they know there are people investing in it and it is a realistic ask. As 
Councilor Tobin said, they have not heard festival (organizers) directly saying that they want this, and 
no one is coming forward saying they will pay for it. 
  
Rick Wood, Fire Marshall & Building Official, stated that he does not know if the options attaching to 
buildings are off the table, but he wanted to throw out that it is not as simple as they might think. He 
continued that the buildings they are looking at are generally very old, unreinforced masonry 
buildings, with different blemishes of their own, and it would be challenging to affix (hardware) for 
those types of pole loads. The Committee should be aware that it might be more complicated, if they 
decide on that option. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that she would like to accept this as informational. She continued however, 
that if everyone else is on board with placing this on more time, they could do that. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that he thinks accepting it as informational would mean saying “no,” 
essentially. Councilor Tobin replied that for her, it would be a “no” for right now. She continued that 
she has not heard from anyone who wants to pay for part of it, and she expected that maybe the next 
time the Committee discussed this, they would hear from people tonight saying (something 
like), “Yes, I have a festival, and I want to pay for one of these banners, so please put the 
infrastructure in so I can buy this banner and hang it up.” However, she is not hearing that. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that if this is accepted as informational, and Council does the same, the 
issue is dead for the year. He continued that although he generally dislikes more time, doing so 
would bring more information, and Councilor Tobin and Councilor Workman have raised some good 
questions about who will do what. He would like to see some harder numbers about the cost. If there 
is no interest (from event organizers) in putting up banners, the City is just paying for poles for no 
reason. He leans toward placing this on more time. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that he agrees with Chair Greenwald about placing this on more time. He 
continued that in all fairness to Mr. Pipp and the downtown merchants, the reason no one is here 
saying that they will do this or that is because the City has not yet said they will allow it. He does not 
know who would come in and give a presentation when the Committee has not even made up its 
mind yet. They could place it on more time and let staff and the Petitioners get together. In 30 days, if 
nothing gets created, then that is the way it goes. He suggests they give it 30 days to see if they can 
make it work. 
  
Councilor Workman stated that earlier on in their agenda packet they had a communication signed by 
multiple people who represent multiple different events in Keene. She continued that she feels like 
the Committee has had this on more time, and they have reviewed it, and if those people were going 
to come forward, they would have done so by now. She thinks they are spinning their wheels. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he is not opposed to placing this on more time. He continued that he 
has additional questions regarding traffic and pedestrian safety on Main St., which he would like staff 
to address in a future report out. This is the third time this has been on the Committee’s agenda. He 
does not want to say no to it and kill it for the year, because he thinks there are still conversations to 
be had. He had not previously considered the West St. idea, which he would like more time to think 
about. Either way, he does not think this matter is ready to move out of the Committee yet, so the 
choice is to either accept it as informational or place it on more time. 

Page 102 of 146



 

2025-108  

  
Chair Greenwald stated that to follow up on what Councilor Favolise said about West St., there is 
also the potential for (the banner to go on) Church St., Lamson St., or any street coming in and out. 
He continued that the first question is whether they want to have this at all. It does not sound like 
there is a consensus of yes or no, which is kind of the definition of more time. 
  
Councilor Filiault stated that in his first City Council term 30 years ago, a little company from 
California came and asked if the City wanted to do a movie. He continued that it kind of started off 
like this. A couple of Councilors said no, there was no way they could do it. But they decided to take 
a look. After they decided to move forward with it, the movie’s site manager gave the City a 3-page 
list of requests. His concern is that if that request had come to this Council, the Council would have 
just said no way, it is too much. But the Council 30 years ago had the backbone to say, “We think we 
can do this,” and now 30 years later, they are celebrating the movie’s anniversary. Therefore, he 
encourages people to look for how they can do this, not the reasons why they cannot. Placing this on 
more time is fair. 
  
Councilor Tobin made a motion for the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee to 
place the proposal to add the necessary infrastructure to accommodate banners across Main St. or 
another street on more time. Councilor Filiault seconded the motion. 
  
Councilor Favolise stated that he understands that these images are renderings from the consultant, 
but something that struck him in the first slide is the image of the banner is from the viewpoint of a 
car, and there is a pedestrian in the crosswalk. He thinks art imitates life in this scenario. Main St. 
has seven or eight crosswalks across it, and he has a safety concern on Main St. about creating a 
potential distraction for drivers in an area where there are many pedestrians crossing frequently. He 
would like to hear staff address that. 
  
Councilor Favolise continued that at this point, he is not clear whether the cost would stay the same if 
the banner goes across West St. (instead of Main St.). He continued that it is important for the City to 
know, and important for anyone wanting to do fundraisers to know. He does not know enough about 
structural engineering to know the answer to that question. He will vote to place this item on more 
time, but those are the issues he would like answers about next time. 
  
Mr. Pipp stated that he wants to be clear on what the Committee wants for the next meeting. He 
continued that he was unaware that the Committee wanted him to bring event organizers. He talked 
with many of them, and they were all in support of the banner infrastructure idea. He did not realize 
they needed to bring people here, because normally, you do not begin fundraising for a pole that 
cannot be put up, which is why they have not started a fundraising effort. He asked if for the next 
meeting, assuming this is placed on more time, the Committee wants him to bring people who will 
say they would buy a $1,200 or $1,500 banner. 
  
Chair Greenwald replied that anything Mr. Pipp could do to demonstrate there is support for this 
would be helpful, but he would tell Mr. Pipp that his issue has moved miles ahead in a positive way. 
He continued that Mr. Pipp could bring answers to questions, and work with City staff about the 
needs. 
  
Chair Greenwald called for a vote. 
  
On a vote of 4-1, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee placed the item on 

Page 103 of 146



 

2025-108  

more time. Councilor Workman voted in opposition. 
  
Chair Greenwald stated that the item goes on more time, and at the Committee’s May meeting, they 
will make a decision. 
 

Page 104 of 146



 

2025-179  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #I.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Jared Goodell 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code to Encourage 

Housing Development in Keene 
Ordinance O-2025-15 

     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Goodell Application to Amend LDC_O-2025-15 
2. Goodell Narrative_O-2025-15 
3. Ordinance O-2025-15 
  
  
Background: 
Jared Goodell has submitted the attached application to amend the Land Development Code to 
encourage housing development in Keene. The proposed ordinance would amend section 1.3.3 to 
clarify that Build-to-Zone requirements only apply to the first building or structure on a lot; amend the 
stated purpose of the Neighborhood Business (NB) district to include residential uses; amend Section 
5.3.2 relative to dimensions and siting requirements in the NB district to lower the minimum lot area; 
amend section 8.3.1(C) to allow 6 dwelling units in the Medium Density district; amend section 
8.3.1(C) to remove from the Downtown Growth district the requirement that dwelling units be located 
above the ground floor; and, add a sub-section to section 19.2 concerning non-conforming uses 
addressing lots split by zoning district boundaries to adopt the zoning of the largest portion of the lot 
in a single zoning district. 
 

Page 105 of 146



Page 106 of 146



Page 107 of 146



Page 108 of 146



Page 109 of 146



Page 110 of 146



Page 111 of 146



Page 112 of 146



Page 113 of 146



 

2025-168  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #I.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Donald Lussier, Public Works Director 
    
Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager 
     
Subject: Relating to Water & Sewer Utility Charges 

Ordinance O-2025-16 
     
  
Recommendation: 
That Ordinance O-2025-16 be referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee 
  
Attachments: 
1. ORDINANCE O-2025-16 Utility Rates 
  
  
Background: 
The City's most recent adjustment to water and sewer utility charges was on November 1, 
2022.  Since that time, operational costs have increased significantly.  Within the municipal utility 
industry, it is estimated that Operation and Maintenance costs have increased by approximately 10 - 
15% since the fall of 2022.  In order to maintain the financial stability and resiliency of the Water & 
Sewer Funds, it is necessary to increase the amount we charge for various services.  
 
However, increasing rates by 15% all at once would create undue hardship for some of our 
customers.  Using the utility rate model created in 2022, staff from the Public Works and Finance 
Departments have developed a strategy to incrementally increase revenues over time in order to 
satisfy our cash-flow needs and comply with the Council's fiscal policies related to unallocated fund 
balances.  Ordinance O-2025-16 will enact a five percent increase on most charges effective as of 
July 1, 2025.  Our intention is to continue making incremental adjustments at the start of each fiscal 
year. 
 
For our "Median" residential customer, with a 5/8" water service and using approximately 12 units of 
water per quarter, these changes will increase their quarterly bill by $11 per quarter ($44 per year). 
 

Page 114 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-16 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Water & Sewer Utility Charges 

 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 

That Appendix B Fee Schedule of the Ordinances of the City of Keene, as amended, are hereby 
further amended, effective as of July 1, 2025, by deleting the stricken text and inserting the 
bolded text in Chapter 98 “Utilities” and Chapter 100 “Land Development Code”, as follows: 

§ 98-165. Backflow operating permit fees: 

Original backflow preventer operating permit .....$ 25.00 

Permit renewal .....$5.00  $10.00 

§ 98-216. Private wastewater disposal permit and inspection fee .....$15.00  $50.00 

§ 98-297. Building sewer permit and inspection fees: 

Residential, institutional or commercial building sewer permit .....15.00 

Industrial building sewer permit .....30.00 

§ 98-359. Fee for industrial users to defray the administrative costs of the industrial 
discharge permits (IDP) program: 

Significant industrial users, flat fee per year .....$1,500.00  $2,000.00 

Additional fee per gallon based on one day's average flow .....$0.01 $0.02 

Minor industrial users, flat fee per year .....$100.00  $200.00 

§ 98-511(a). Water meter rates: 

Volumetric Rate for water passing through the meter   5.35  $5.62 per hcf 
Volumetric Rate for water dispensed into a tanker 
truck or other bulk container from a City dispenser  

$22.44 per hcf 
$0.03 per gallon 

Fixed Quarterly Charge (meter size in inches)  
5/8” 24.33  $25.55 
¾” 36.50  $38.33 
1” 60.83  $63.87 
1 ½” 121.65  $127.73 
2” 194.64  $204.37 
3” 364.96  $383.21 
4” 608.26  $638.67 

Page 115 of 146



6” 1216.52  $1,277.35 
 

§ 98-511(c). Flat Rates: 

 Unmetered 5/8” service; flat fee per quarter…  $78.71 

§ 98-511(g). Public and private fire protection service charges: 

Private Fire Protection  
(per connection, per year) 

 

Private Fireline 1 ½” 29.42  $30.89 
Private Fireline 2” 62.70  $65.84 
Private Fireline 4” 388.14  $407.55 
Private Fireline 6” 1127.46  $1183.83 
Private Fireline 8” 2402.66  $2,522.79 
Private Fireline 10” 4320.91  $4,536.85 
Private Fireline 12” 6979.30  $7,328.27 
Private Hydrant (per hydrant, per year) 1127.46 $1,183.83 

 

§ 98-512(a). Sewer rates: 

Volumetric Rate ($ per hcf) 6.29  $6.60 
Fixed Quarterly Charge (meter size in inches)  

5/8” 50.93  $53.48 
¾” 76.39  $80.21 
1” 127.32  $133.69 
1 ½” 254.63   $267.36 
2” 407.41  $427.78 
3” 763.89  $802.08 
4” 1,273.15  $1,336.81 
6” 2,546.31  $2,673.63 

 

§ 98-512(b) Septage and holding tank charges: 

Septage, per gallon .....0.085  $0.095 

Minimum fee for each load of septic waste .....8.50  $10.00 

Holding tank waste, per gallon .....0.045 $0.065 

Minimum fee for each load of holding tank waste .....4.50  $10.00 

§ 98-513(b) Letting-on and letting-off charges: 

 The minimum charge for any service requiring staff to visit a customer’s premises 
shall be $75, or shall be billed based on the basis of actual labor, equipment and 
materials. 

§ 98-514(a) Meter testing charges: 

  Flat rate charge for meter testing, regardless of size… $150 
5/8” $102.00 
¾” 102.00 

Page 116 of 146



1” 102.00 
1 ½” 130.00 
2” 130.00 
3” 158.00 
4” 158.00 
6” 214.00 

 

Chapter 100; § 22.4 Service connection permit 

Engineering inspection fees, per hour .....$55.00 $58.00 

Connection Type Fee 

Water, ≤ 2" $100.00  $200.00 

Water, > 2" $200.00  $400.00 

Sewer, design flow ≤ 5,000 GPD $100.00  $200.00 

Sewer, design flow > 5,000 GPD $200.00  $400.00 

Storm drain, ≤6" $100.00  $200.00 

Storm drain >6" As determined by the public works 
director 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

 

Page 117 of 146



 

2025-180  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #I.3. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Jared Goodell 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Relating to Amendments to Definitions of the Land Development Code to 

Encourage Housing Development in Keene and the Definitions Relating to 
Charitable Gaming Facilities 
Ordinance O-2025-17 

     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Goodell_Petition to amend LDC_O-2025-17 
2. Ordinance O-2025-17 
  
  
Background: 
Mr. Goodell has submitted a partner amendment that would amend the definitions section of the 
Land Development Code, which is within the administrative section of the LDC, by modifying 
definitions for the following terms: "Build-To Zone", and "Front Setback"; as well as adding definitions 
for "Charitable Gaming Facility", and "Gaming Position".  
 

Page 118 of 146



Page 119 of 146



Page 120 of 146



Page 121 of 146



 

2025-121  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Stop Signs 

Ordinance O-2025-10-A 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-10-A. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-10A City Code Stop Sign Updates 
2. O-2025-10A City Code Stop Sign Updates_redline updates 
  
  
Background: 
Mr. Ruoff stated that Ordinance O-2025-10 has been revised slightly since the first reading with the 
City Council. He continued that there are a couple of items staff noticed were incorrect. One of the 
streets where a stop sign was removed met a warrant, so they put in a request to have that stop sign 
reinstalled based on existing City Code. Regarding the other streets, most are roundabouts that no 
longer exist or were wrongly entered initially, or they are describing traffic going in the wrong direction 
on a one-way street. This updates the City Code to reflect current conditions. He would be happy to 
answer any questions. 
  
The City Attorney stated that she has a question. In the “A” versions of the ones they just looked at 
there was some red text, which she assumes were the changes from the City Council to here. Mr. 
Ruoff replied that is correct. The City Attorney stated that she does not see any red text on this one. 
Mr. Ruoff replied that there should be, and if the City Attorney does not have that copy, he could 
make a copy for her. He continued that there should be two Ordinances, one with red text and one 
that is the final version for approval. The City Attorney replied that it seems like the agenda packet is 
fine; she will check to make sure the website is right. 
  
Councilor Workman made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-10-A. 

Page 122 of 146



 

2025-121  

 

Page 123 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-10A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Stop Sign Locations  

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bolded underlined text to the provisions of Section 94-321, “Stop Signs” in Division 
5, “Specific Street Regulations”, and deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-
321, “Stop Signs” in Division 5, “Specific Street Regulations” in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled 
“TRAFFIC, PARKING AND PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-321. - Stop signs.

Appleton Street for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

Base Hill Road for northbound traffic at West Street.

Black Brook Road for westbound traffic at Wyman Road.

Burdett Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street.

Bruder Street for eastbound traffic at Main Street. 

Carpenter Street for southbound traffic at Water Street.

Chase Place for eastbound traffic at Washington Street.

Church Street for westbound traffic at Norway Ave and 93rd Street. 

Community Way for southbound traffic at Water Street.

Gates Street for westbound traffic at Main Street.

Harrison Street for northbound traffic at Church Street.

King Court for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

Kit Street for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street.

Lynnwood Avenue for eastbound traffic at Edgewood Avenue.

Matthews Road for north-westbound traffic at Winchester Street.

Martel Court for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

Page 124 of 146



New Acres Road for southbound traffic at Allen Court.

Norway Ave for northbound traffic at Roxbury Street.

Robbins Road for westbound traffic at Starlight Drive.

Roxbury Road for westbound traffic at Peg Shop Road.

School Street for northbound traffic at Leverett Street. 

Schulyer Way for southbound traffic at Daniels Hill Road

Skyline Drive for southbound traffic at Stonehouse Road.

Skyline Drive for northbound traffic at Stonehouse Road. 

Silent Way for northbound traffic at Main Street. 

Spring Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street

Wright Street for eastbound traffic at Washington Street 

Butler Court for southbound traffic at the Keene State College property line 682.2. 
feet south of Winchester Street. 

Carpenter Street at Water Street. 

Cottage Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street. 

Elm Street for northbound traffic at Mechanic Street.

Elm Street for northbound traffic at Union Street.

Felt Road for northbound traffic at Arch Street.

Hitchcock Clinic for eastbound traffic at Court Street. 

Island Street for eastbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Island Street for westbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Island Street for southbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Jordan Road for southbound traffic at Old Concord Road.

Kit Street at the entrance to Best Western.  A stop sign as described in this section 
for traffic entering Kit Street from the driveway of Best Western. 

Post Office exit for traffic entering Water Street. 

Railroad Street for northbound traffic at Church Street. 

Roxbury Road for eastbound traffic at Peg Shop Road. 

Union Street for northbound traffic on Elm Street. 

Union Street for southbound traffic on Elm Street. 

Wells Street parking structure for westbound traffic existing onto Wells Street.

Page 125 of 146



93rd Street for westbound traffic at Church Street  

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 126 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-10A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Stop Sign Locations  

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bolded underlined text to the provisions of Section 94-321, “Stop Signs” in Division 
5, “Specific Street Regulations”, and deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-
321, “Stop Signs” in Division 5, “Specific Street Regulations” in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled 
“TRAFFIC, PARKING AND PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-321. - Stop signs.

Arch Street for eastbound traffic at Park Avenue.

Appleton Street for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

Base Hill Road for northbound traffic at West Hill Road Street.

Black Brook Road for westbound traffic at Wyman Road.

Burdett Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street.

Bruden Bruder Street for eastbound traffic at Main Street. 

Carpenter Street for southbound traffic at Water Street.

Chase Place for eastbound traffic at Washington Street.

Church Street for westbound traffic at Norway Ave and 93rd Street. 

Community Way for southbound traffic at Water Street.

Gates Street for westbound traffic at Main Street.

Harrison Street for northbound traffic at Church Street.

King Court for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

Kit Street for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street.

Lynnwood Avenue for eastbound traffic at Edgewood Avenue.

Matthews Road for north-westbound traffic at Winchester Street.

Page 127 of 146



Martel Court for eastbound traffic at Main Street.

New Acres Road for southbound traffic at Allen Court.

Norward Norway Ave for northbound traffic at Roxbury Street.

Robbins Road for westbound traffic at Starlight Drive.

Roxbury Road for westbound traffic at Peg Shop Road.

School Street for northbound traffic at Leverett Street. 

Schulyer Way for southbound traffic at Daniels Hill Road

Skyline Drive for southbound traffic at Stonehouse Road.

Skyline Drive for northbound traffic at Stonehouse Road. 

Silent Way for northbound traffic at Main Street. 

Spring Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street

Wright Street for eastbound traffic at Washington Street 

Butler Court for southbound traffic at the Keene State College property line 682.2. 
feet south of Winchester Street. 

Carpenter Street at Water Street. 

Cottage Street for westbound traffic at Washington Street. 

Cross Street for westbound traffic at Court Street 

Elm Street for northbound traffic at Mechanic Street.

Elm Street for northbound traffic at Union Street.

Felt Road for northbound traffic at Arch Street.

Hitchcock Clinic for eastbound traffic at Court Street. 

Island Street for eastbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Island Street for westbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Island Street for southbound traffic at Pearl Street. 

Jordan Road for southbound traffic at Old Concord Road.

Kit Street at the entrance to Best Western.  A stop sign as described in this section 
for traffic entering Kit Street from the driveway of Best Western. 

Post Office exit for traffic entering Water Street. 

Railroad Street for northbound traffic at Church Street. 

Roxbury Road for eastbound traffic at Peg Shop Road. 

Union Street for northbound traffic on Elm Street. 

Page 128 of 146



Union Street for southbound traffic on Elm Street. 

Wells Street parking structure for westbound traffic existing onto Wells Street.

93rd Street for westbound traffic at Church Street  

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 129 of 146



 

2025-129  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Yield Signs 

Ordinance O-2025-11-A 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-11-A. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-11-A City Code Yield Sign Updates 
2. O-2025-11-A City Code Yield Sign Updates_redline updates 
  
  
Background: 
Mr. Ruoff stated this Ordinance has been changed since the first reading with City Council. The “A” 
version in the packet includes a redlined version, to make it clear what has changed, and then the 
actual Ordinance. He is happy to go through all the changes and why they have been made. 
Essentially, many of these yield sign locations deal with the Upper Winchester St. project and the 
addition of yield signs for those roundabouts that were installed. Also, as sort of a catch-all so they do 
not have this problem again, they are adding a descriptor at all approaches into roundabout 
intersections, which yield signs should be installed in regardless. For the ones being eliminated, it is 
based on reconfiguration of that intersection. Some have traffic lights at this point, and some are 
totally changed intersections. This is an update of the yield signs in the City Code to reflect current 
conditions. It is not a full listing of yield signs in the City, just to be clear. 
  
Chair Greenwald asked if the City Attorney is happy and satisfied with all of this. The City Attorney 
replied yes. 
  
Councilor Tobin stated that her only question is whether it is correct that for all approaches into 
roundabout intersections, the type of road does not matter. She continued that for example, she is 
thinking about Winchester St. and Route 101.  
  
Mr. Ruoff replied that that is State-owned and maintained, so it would not fall within the City Code. He 
continued that all the ones listed here are within City Code. It is kind of redundant, because they 

Page 130 of 146



 

2025-129  

listed the three yield signs that were added as part of the Upper Winchester St. project, but it is not 
explicitly clear where the yield sign is, so it is reinforcing that point. 
  
Councilor Filiault made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Tobin. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-11-A. 
 

Page 131 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-11A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Yield Sign Locations  

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-346, “Yield Signs” in Division 6, 
“Specific Street Regulations” in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND 
PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-346. - Yield signs.

At all approaches into a roundabout intersection. 

Key Road for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street

Pearl Street for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street

Island Street for southbound traffic at Winchester Street

Robinhood Lane for southbound traffic at Roxbury Street 

Roxbury Street for eastbound traffic at Water Street 

Victoria Court for westbound traffic at Victoria Street.  

Washington Avenue and Gilsum Street for southbound traffic on Washington 
Avenue. 

Wells Street parking lot at exist to Roxbury Plaza. 

                                     

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 132 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-11A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Yield Sign Locations  

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-346, “Yield Signs” in Division 6, 
“Specific Street Regulations” in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND 
PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-346. - Yield signs.

At all approaches into a roundabout intersection. 

Key Road for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street

Pearl Street for eastbound traffic at Winchester Street

Island Street for southbound traffic at Winchester Street

Roxbury Street Robinhood Lane for southbound traffic at Roxbury Street 
Robinhood Lane

Roxbury Street for eastbound traffic at Water Street 

Victoria Court for westbound traffic at Victoria Street.  

Washington Avenue and Gilsum Street for southbound traffic on Washington 
Avenue. 

Wells Street parking lot at exist to Roxbury Plaza. 

                                     

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 133 of 146



 

2025-132  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.3. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Traffic Signals 

Ordinance O-2025-12 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-12. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-12 City Code Traffic Signal Updates_referral 
  
  
Background: 
The City Engineer stated this Ordinance relates to traffic signals. He continued he is happy to go 
through all the reasons for changes, but like the last one, these are mostly due to roundabouts and 
some of them were errant entries. For example, the Main St. pedestrian light at St. Bernard’s Church 
is not listed in the right location, so this is a cleanup of the City Code to match what has been in place 
for about the last 30 years. 
  
Councilor Tobin made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-12. 
 

Page 134 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-12

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Traffic Signals

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:
That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bold text and deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-34, “Red, 
Yellow, Green Traffic Signals”, Section 94-35 “Flashing yellow or red signals”, in Division 1, 
“Specific Street Regulations” in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND 
PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-34. Red, Yellow, Green Traffic Signals

Ash Brook Road at Ash Brook Court.

Court Street at Maple Avenue. 

Main Street, Marlboro Street, and Winchester Street.

Main Street pedestrian light at St. Bernard’s Church.

Route 101 (12) and Winchester Street.

Winchester Street and Key Road.

Section 94-35. Flashing yellow or red signals

Park Avenue at Arch Street, and a red flashing light for traffic on Arch Street at 
such intersection. 

Winchester Street at Ralston Street for traffic on Winchester Street, and a red 
flashing signal for traffic on Ralston Street at such intersection. 

                                  

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

In City Council April 3, 2025.
Referred to the Municipal Services,
Facilities and Infrastructure Committee.

City Clerk

Page 135 of 146



 

2025-133  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.4. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regarding Vehicle Turning 

Limitations 
Ordinance O-2025-13-A 

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-13-A. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-13-A City Code Division 3, Turns Updates 
2. O-2025-13-A City Code Division 3, Turns Updates_redline updates 
  
  
Background: 
The City Engineer stated that this is Ordinance has also been revised since its first reading at City 
Council. He continued that a couple of median locations fall in a gray area between whether they are 
State right-of-way or City right-of-way, and at roundabout locations short divides. This Ordinance is 
an update to City Code of two things. They are calling it a “turning movement change Ordinance.” It 
is the elimination of some existing sign limitations that are no longer in place because roundabouts 
have been installed in those two locations, so there are no longer turns that those signs would apply 
to. Then there are turning limitations in the medians and islands, which are all listed in the existing 
City conditions. He has the roundabout location for each one and when it was installed, if the 
Committee would like that information. 
  
Chair Greenwald asked if there were any questions or comments from the Committee. Hearing none, 
he asked for a motion. 
  
Councilor Favolise made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-13-A. 
 

Page 136 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-13A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Turns

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bold text and deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-266, 
“Limitations”, Section 94-268 “Medians and Islands”, in Division 3, “Turns” in Article IV of 
Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-266. Limitations

Marlboro Street. Right turn lane 7:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. from Main Street to a point 
200 feet east of the Post Office driveway

Park Avenue at Arch Street, and Arch Street at Park Avenue. No right turn on red 
signal. 

Section 94-268. Medians and Islands

At all approaches into a roundabout intersection.

Ash Brook Road.

Ash Brook Court.

Base Hill Road.

Island Street. 

Key Road.

Marlboro Street.

Old Walpole Road.

Production Avenue. 

West Surry Road.

                                     

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 137 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-13A

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the Amendment of City Code for Turns

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bold text and deleting the stricken text from the provisions of Section 94-266, 
“Limitations”, Section 94-268 “Medians and Islands”, in Division 3, “Turns” in Article IV of 
Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Sec. 94-266. Limitations

Marlboro Street. Right turn lane 7:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. from Main Street to a point 
200 feet east of the Post Office driveway

Park Avenue at Arch Street, and Arch Street at Park Avenue. No right turn on red 
signal. 

Section 94-268. Medians and Islands

At all approaches into a roundabout intersection.

Ash Brook Road.

Ash Brook Court.

Base Hill Road.

Island Street. 

Key Road.

Marlboro Street.

Old Walpole Road.

Production Avenue. 

West Surry Road.

                                     

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 138 of 146



 

2025-106  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.5. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Municipal Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to the Installation of a Stop Sign on Wilber Street at Water Street 

Ordinance O-2025-14 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-14. 
  
Attachments: 
1. O-2025-14 Stop Sign on Wilber St_referral 
  
  
Background: 
Bryan Ruoff, City Engineer, stated that Public Works was in front of the Committee in March 
regarding a “See Click Fix” comment about unsafe conditions at this intersection. He continued that 
the Committee voted unanimously to direct the City Manager to draft an Ordinance. That has been 
done. The Ordinance is here for the Committee’s consideration today. It is straightforward and 
consistent with City Code, and he is happy to answer any questions. 
  
Chair Greenwald asked if there were any questions from the Committee or public. Hearing none, he 
asked for a motion. 
  
Councilor Workman made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Filiault. 
  
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee recommends the 
adoption of Ordinance O-2025-14. 
 

Page 139 of 146



ORDINANCE O-2025-14

CITY  OF  KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and             Twenty-Five

AN ORDINANCE    Relating to the installation of a Stop Sign on Wilber Street

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

That the City Code of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further amended 
by adding the bolded underlined text to the provisions of Section 94-321, “Stop Signs” in Division 
5, “Specific Street Regulations”, in Article IV of Chapter 94, entitled “TRAFFIC, PARKING AND 
PUBLIC WAYS” as follows.

Wilber Street for southbound traffic at the intersection with Water St. 

_________________________________
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

In City Council April 3, 2025.
Referred to the Municipal Services,
Facilities and Infrastructure Committee.

City Clerk

Page 140 of 146



 

2025-185  

 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #K.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: May 1, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Kari Chamberlain, Finance Director/Treasurer 
    
Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager 
     
Subject: Relating to the 2025-2026 Operating Budget 

Resolution R-2025-12 
     
  
Recommendation: 
That Resolution R-2025-12 relating to the FY 2025-2026 budget be referred to the Finance, 
Organization & Personnel Committee for their review and recommendation, and that a public hearing 
be scheduled for Thursday, June 5, 2025. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Budget Transmittal FY26 
2. R-2025-12 Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Operating Budget 
3. R-2025-12 FY2026 Operating Budget 
  
  
Background: 
Resolution R-2025-12 summarizes the budget document that has been prepared for FY 2025-2026. 
The detailed budget document has been distributed to the Mayor and City Council. The document, in 
its entirety, has been posted on the City’s website. For user convenience, the table of contents 
throughout the book has been linked to the appropriated pages. A Citizen’s Budget Guide will also be 
available that summarizes the General Fund Proposed Budget, explains the City Budget process, 
and the role of the Comprehensive Master Plan in that effort. 
 
Any bond resolutions associated with projects recommended for funding in the next fiscal year will be 
presented under separate cover memos. 
 
The remaining steps in the budget process are outlined below: 
  

Budget Meeting Calendar 

Date Day Time Description 

May 1, 2025 Thursday  City Manager Budget 
distributed to City Council 

Page 141 of 146



 

2025-185  

May 1, 2025 Thursday 7:00 PM 
Regular Council Meeting - 
Budget resolution first reading 
- referred to FOP Committee 

May 6, 2025 Tuesday 5:30 PM 

Special FOP meeting (start 
5:30)- Budget Review - 
Overview,  General Fund 
Revenues & Expenditures, 
Debt Service, Mayor & City 
Council, Outside Agencies, 
Unclassified Items, Capital 
Appropriations, Risk 
Management, City Manager's 
Office, City Clerk, Finance 

May 8, 2025 Thursday 5:30 PM 

Regular FOP meeting (start 
5:30)- Budget Review - 
Community Development, 
Information Technology, PC 
Replacement Fund, City 
Attorney, Assessment, Parking 
Fund, Human Resources, 
Employee Benefits 

May 13, 2025 Tuesday 5:30 PM 

Special FOP Meeting (5:30) -
Budget Review - Public Works, 
Solid Waste Fund, Sewer Fund, 
Water Fund, Equipment (Fleet 
Fund) 

May 15, 2025 Thursday 7:00 PM 
Regular Council Meeting - 
Introduce bond resolutions; 
introduce salary ordinance 

May 20, 2025 Tuesday 5:30 PM 

Special FOP Meeting (start 
5:30 PM) - Budget Review - 
Airport, Library, Parks, 
Recreation & Facilities, Police, 
Fire 

May 22, 2025 Thursday 5:30 PM 

Regular FOP Meeting -Make 
recommendation on budget, 
salary ordinance, bond 
resolutions 

June 5, 2025 Thursday 7:00 PM Regular Council Meeting - 
Public Hearing 

June 19, 2025 Thursday 7:00 PM 
Regular Council Meeting - 
Vote on budget, salary 
ordinance, bond resolutions 

July 1, 2025 Tuesday  Start of FY 2026 
  
 

Page 142 of 146



May 1, 2025

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council

From: Kari Chamberlain, Finance Director

Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager

Subject: FY2025-2026 Proposed Operating Budget – Transmittal Memo

On May 1st each year, the upcoming fiscal year proposed operating budget is distributed to 
the Mayor and City Council. Below is a brief introduction and overview of the FY 2025-2026 
Proposed Operating Budget.

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is the primary operating fund utilized by the City of Keene and accounts 
for the activity of the vast majority of City departments and functions. Other City budgeted 
funds account for activities related to the production and distribution of drinking water, the 
collection and treatment of wastewater, recycling or disposing of refuge generated by the 
City’s residents and businesses, parking-related activities, and the timely maintenance 
and replacement of equipment utilized by the various departments of the City. Everything 
else (police, fire and ambulance service, street, sidewalk and bike path maintenance, 
elections, library functions, cemeteries, maintenance of parks, drainage system 
maintenance, airport activity) is budgeted and accounted for in the General Fund.

The balance of the funding increase necessary to pay for the operating budget changes 
comes from a wide variety of sources. It should be noted that from year to year, the funding 
profile for the annual budget changes in many small and some significant ways, as revenue 
estimates for the various line items are reviewed in the context of historical data, the 
economic and legislative environment, new or revised local fee schedules, and other 
factors. Each year, all the revenue and expenditure lines are analyzed and adjusted 
accordingly to reflect the needs of the City and its departments, while staying within the 
guidelines established by current fiscal policy and goals set forth by City Council.

For FY 2026, the proposed City tax rate is $13.59, up 2.1% from the prior year actual. Each 
year the adopted budget tax rate includes an appropriation to fund the overlay account, 
which is a balance sheet account (meaning activity funded through this account is not an 

Page 143 of 146



expenditure) used to pay for property tax abatement costs. The overlay appropriation is 
included in the amount of taxes to be raised, as well as the amount of war service tax 
property credits.

Page 144 of 146



 R-2025-12 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
A RESOLUTION     Relating to the 2025/2026 fiscal year budget 

 

Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 
 

 

That the sum of $30,291,365 be raised by taxation during the current year, which together with 
$22,890,746 for estimated operating revenues aggregating $80,412,389 is hereby appropriated for the 
use of the several departments of the City Government, and further that the sum of $5,566,255 be 
appropriated for capital expenditures and capital reserve appropriations in the City proprietary funds, 
funded by the use of capital reserves, fund balance and current revenues, for the fiscal year beginning 
July 1, 2025, as attached hereto and made a part thereof. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 



General Fund Revenue & Other Financing Sources: Proposed General Fund Appropriations: Proposed
  Property Tax Revenue $30,291,365 Elected & Appointed Officials $2,750,811
  Use of Surplus 2,340,946 Capital Projects 6,951,263
  Other Taxes 1,698,000 Administrative Services 7,079,557
  Tax Increment Financing 639,073 Community Services 24,764,023
  Licenses, Permits & Fees 4,471,819 Municipal Development Services 8,098,837
  Intergovernmental 3,767,264 Debt Service 3,537,620
  Charges for Services 2,819,219   
  Fines & Forfeits 64,910   
  Miscellaneous 2,253,525   
  Other Financing Sources 4,835,990  

NET GENERAL FUND OPERATING REVENUES $53,182,111 NET GENERAL FUND OPERATING APPROPRIATIONS $53,182,111
   

TOTAL PARKING FUND REVENUES $1,616,048 TOTAL PARKING FUND APPROPRIATIONS $1,616,048
TOTAL PC REPLACEMENT FUND REVENUES $151,387 TOTAL PC REPLACEMENT FUND APPROPRIATIONS $151,387
TOTAL SOLID WASTE FUND REVENUES $6,198,221 TOTAL SOLID WASTE FUND APPROPRIATIONS $6,198,221
TOTAL SEWER FUND REVENUES $8,590,185 TOTAL SEWER FUND APPROPRIATIONS $8,590,185
TOTAL WATER FUND REVENUES $6,428,989 TOTAL WATER FUND APPROPRIATIONS $6,428,989
TOTAL EQUIPMENT FUND REVENUES $4,245,448 TOTAL EQUIPMENT FUND APPROPRIATIONS $4,245,448

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES - ALL FUNDS $80,412,389 TOTAL OPERATING APPROPRIATIONS - ALL FUNDS $80,412,389
CAPITAL:
PARKING FUND CAPITAL FUNDING $458,000 PARKING FUND CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS $458,000
SOLID WASTE FUND CAPITAL FUNDING $288,980 SOLID WASTE FUND CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS $288,980
SEWER FUND CAPITAL FUNDING $2,202,200 SEWER FUND CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS $2,202,200
WATER FUND CAPITAL FUNDING $1,351,183 WATER FUND CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS $1,351,183
EQUIPMENT FUND CAPITAL FUNDING $1,265,892 EQUIPMENT FUND CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS $1,265,892

TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDING - OTHER FUNDS $5,566,255 TOTAL CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS - OTHER FUNDS $5,566,255

R-2025-12 2025/2026 Annual Operating Budget


	 ROLL CALL
	 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	 MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING
	 April 17, 2025 Minutes
	2025_04_17_City_Council_Minutes_final


	A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS
	1. Community Recognition - Ockle Johnson - Boston Mar
	2. Proclamation - National Kids to Parks Day
	3. Proclamation - Bike Week
	4. Proclamation - Frontline Workers

	B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS
	C. COMMUNICATIONS
	1. Pamela Beaman/MCVP - Donation of Real Property - L
	Cover Sheet
	MCVP Lot 45 donation to City of Keene 042225_redacted

	2. Jeb Thurmond/Keene Marlboro Group LLC - Withdrawal
	Cover Sheet
	Communication_Thurmond


	D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES
	1. Verbal Update: Downtown Infrastructure Project
	Cover Sheet


	E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
	F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS
	1. Reallocation of Operating Funds - Recreation Center
	Cover Sheet

	2. 79E Community Revitalization Tax Relief Application
	Cover Sheet
	79E Committee checklist - 34 Court
	34 Court LLC 79-E Documents
	CC Resolution


	G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
	1. Relative to Feather Signs in the Industrial and In
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-08A_Feather Signs
	O-2025-08A_Feather Signs_Redline
	Staff Report O-2025-08

	2. Relative to Single-Family Parking Requirements Ord
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-09_Single Family Parking Requirements
	Staff Report O-2025-09


	H. REPORTS - MORE TIME
	1. Stephen Bragdon and Cheryl Belair - Safety Issues 
	Cover Sheet

	2. Ian D. Matheson - Court Street Pedestrian Safety R
	Cover Sheet

	3. Adam Toepfer - Request to Add Audio and Data Cable
	Cover Sheet

	4. Proposal to Add the Necessary Infrastructure to Ac
	Cover Sheet


	I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING
	1. Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Cod
	Cover Sheet
	Goodell Application to Amend LDC_O-2025-15
	Goodell Narrative_O-2025-15
	Ordinance O-2025-15

	2. Relating to Water & Sewer Utility ChargesOrdinance
	Cover Sheet
	ORDINANCE O-2025-16 Utility Rates

	3. Relating to Amendments to Definitions of the Land 
	Cover Sheet
	Goodell_Petition to amend LDC_O-2025-17
	Ordinance O-2025-17


	J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING
	1. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regardi
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-10A City Code Stop Sign Updates
	O-2025-10A City Code Stop Sign Updates_redline updates

	2. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regardi
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-11-A City Code Yield Sign Updates
	O-2025-11-A City Code Yield Sign Updates_redline updates

	3. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regardi
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-12 City Code Traffic Signal Updates_referral

	4. Relating to an Amendment of the City Code, Regardi
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-13-A City Code Division 3, Turns Updates
	O-2025-13-A City Code Division 3, Turns Updates_redline updates

	5. Relating to the Installation of a Stop Sign on Wil
	Cover Sheet
	O-2025-14 Stop Sign on Wilber St_referral


	K. RESOLUTIONS
	1. Relating to the 2025-2026 Operating BudgetResoluti
	Cover Sheet
	Budget Transmittal FY26
	R-2025-12 Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Operating Budget
	R-2025-12 FY2026 Operating Budget


	 NON PUBLIC SESSION
	 ADJOURNMENT



